UC Riverside UC Riverside Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Effects of Peer Growth Mindset and Social Comparison on Adolescents' Learning Outcomes

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/0099v1n4

Author Sheffler, Pamela

Publication Date 2022

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA RIVERSIDE

Effects of Peer Growth Mindset and Social Comparison on Adolescents' Learning Outcomes

A Dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Psychology

by

Pamela Christine Sheffler

September 2022

Dissertation Committee: Dr. Cecilia Cheung, Chairperson Dr. Diamond Bravo Dr. Misaki Natsuaki Dr. Rachel Wu

Copyright by Pamela Christine Sheffler 2022 The Dissertation of Pamela Christine Sheffler is approved:

Committee Chairperson

University of California, Riverside

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

So many people helped me throughout my educational journey, without whom I would not be where I am today. First, to my mentor, Dr. Cecilia Cheung, thank you for the tremendous opportunity you gave me when you accepted me into your lab. I learned so much from your guidance and mentorship and am grateful for your tireless efforts in helping me to persevere and hone my professional skills. To Dr. Rachel Wu, thank you for your mentorship and encouragement. You treated me as one of your own graduate students and I am thankful for the many collaborations you provided me. Thank you also to all other members of the CALLA lab, especially Leah Ferguson and Tania Rodriguez. To my other committee members, Dr. Diamond Bravo and Dr. Misaki Natsuaki, thank you for your assistance in helping me navigate my dissertation. To the best lab mates I could have asked for, Danielle Delany and Yena Kyeong. Danielle, from day one you welcomed me and Yena into the lab and provided us with so much support, and you continue to inspire me both as a person and a professional. Yena, thank you for always being there for me. Even when you were half way around the world, I could always count on you, and I am so grateful that we could take this PhD journey together. I would also like to thank my past lab mate, Jorge Monroy, for his support during the challenging early days, present lab mates Danyang Ma and Minghui Wang, as well as all of our wonderful supervisors and research assistants in the Culture and Child Development Lab, especially Vanessa Zavala, Yazleen Reyes, and my "little sister" Colett Gonzales, who brought joy and laughter to our workplace. To Courtney Baugh, thank you for supporting

iv

me during our qualifying exams, and to Sarah Knapp, thank you for your friendship and for being there whenever I needed someone who would understand. To Renee Young, Ivan Kong, Kirsten Alonso, Jay Melashenko, and Sarah Turnbull, thank you for your help with all of the forms, conference reimbursements, TA and financial assistance, and countless other things I needed to pass each milestone, and for making our department a warm and inviting place. I would also like to thank the music department at UCR. To Dr. Ruth Charloff and Frances Moore, thank you for giving me the opportunity to keep up my music, and thank you Frances for your excellent chamber music coaching and encouragement. To my musician friends of the Calypte Trio, Ayala Berger and Eva-Christin Schwesig, thank you for making music with me; I miss you and will never forget our Dohnányi performance.

This accomplishment also would not be possible without the support of the faculty at Cal Poly San Luis Obispo. To Dr. Carrie Langner, thank you for providing me with excellent opportunities to enhance my research skills and professional development. To Dr. Kenneth Habib, thank you for instilling me with the confidence to pursue academia and for being an outstanding role model. To my undergraduate advisor, Dr. Shawn Burn, thank you for your continued warmth and support in helping me realize my full potential. You are the exemplar for my teaching and research, and I'm so grateful to have had you as a teacher and now as a colleague. To all of my wonderful musician friends and mentors at the San Luis Obispo Symphony and in the surrounding community, thank you for helping me grow and for teaching me valuable life lessons as we made music together. To my violin and life teacher, Sharon Holland. Sharon, you not

v

only gave me the gift of the violin but also shaped me into the person I am today, and I will always look up to you. Thank you for believing in my abilities and enriching my soil so I could flourish.

Lastly, I would like to thank my family. To my sweet "Bun," you cannot read this but thank you for all the purrs and pet therapy you gave me during these past few years. To all of my extended family in Riverside and San Bernardino, thank you for being there to cheer me on throughout this long journey. To my brother and sister-in-law, Rocky and Maria Sheffler, thank you for inspiring me and being proud of me. To my partner, Taner Zerrin. I would not have survived this program without your steadfast love and support. Thank you for being my study partner, counselor, and shoulder to cry on during the (many) tough times. Finally, to the two best parents one could ask for, Brent and Vicky Sheffler. Dad, thank you for sparking my interest in psychology and for encouraging me to pursue my dreams. My love of learning was inspired by your own educational journey and tenacity, and I am so thankful for all your love and encouragement. Mom, this degree should really go to you, for all the countless hours you spent on the phone with me, reading my papers, moving in and out of apartments, commuting, laughing, and crying with me. You are my best friend and I am so grateful for all you have given me.

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Effects of Peer Growth Mindset and Social Comparison on Adolescents' Learning Outcomes

by

Pamela Christine Sheffler

Doctor of Philosophy, Graduate Program in Psychology University of California, Riverside, September 2022 Dr. Cecilia Cheung, Chairperson

Children's belief in the malleability of intelligence, known as growth mindset, has been shown to predict numerous academic outcomes. Much attention has focused on the role of parents and teachers in the socialization of growth mindsets, while less research has examined children's peers. The influence of peers on children's academic functioning is well-documented, particularly during adolescence when children spend more time with their peers and look to them as reference points in order to gauge their own academic competence. However, such social comparison processes may be detrimental to students' academic self-perceptions and achievement, and their impact may depend on students' implicit beliefs about intelligence. Although there is growing attention on the role of peers in mindset socialization as well as past literature demonstrating the effect of peer mindsets on students' learning outcomes, the simultaneous consideration of peers' beliefs about intelligence and social comparison influences has yet to be studied.

This dissertation investigated the interplay between these two constructs and their effects on adolescents' motivational and academic outcomes using an online experimental paradigm to manipulate perceptions of peers' mindsets and competence. Participants (N = 120) heard statements reflecting different types of mindsets from purported peers, completed a series of surveys and activities, and received feedback on their and their peers' performance via a virtual leaderboard to induce social comparison. Results showed various main effects of the growth mindset and social comparison manipulations, but no interactive effects. Regardless of social comparison condition, growth mindset peers increased adolescents' learning conducive perceptions of themselves and both their self-reported and objective learning outcomes, while social comparison dampened learning conducive perceptions. The effects of peer growth mindset were partially explained by perceptions of peers' competence and identification with higher performing peers, a positive strategy when faced with a social comparison scenario. The findings further our understanding of peers in the transmission of intelligence beliefs and subsequent learning outcomes, which may inform future efforts geared toward improving adolescents' academic success.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgments	iv
Abstract	vii
List of Tables	xii
CHAPTER 1: Introduction	1
Mindset Theory	3
Mindset and Achievement Outcomes	4
Theories of Peer Influence	6
Peers and Achievement Outcomes	7
Peers and Mindset Transmission	9
Peers and Social Comparison	
Social Comparison and Achievement Outcomes	
Mindset and Social Comparison Effects on Academic Pursuits	14
Early Adolescence as a Unique Developmental Period	15
Overview of the Current Research	17
Research Hypotheses	19
CHAPTER 2: Method	
Design	
Participants	
Procedure	
Measures	

CHAPTER 3: Results	34
Overview of Analyses	34
Pre-Existing Growth Mindset and Social Comparison Associations with Learning Related Outcomes	g- 35
Randomization Check	37
Manipulation Check	39
Effects of Peer Growth Mindset and Social Comparison on Learning-Related Outcomes	41
Other Effects of Peer Growth Mindset and Social Comparison on Learning-Relat Outcomes	ted 59
Mechanisms of Peer Growth Mindset Influence on Learning-Related Outcomes .	61
CHAPTER 4: Discussion	75
Pre-Existing Growth Mindset and Learning-Related Outcomes	75
Effects of Peers' Growth Mindset on Learning-Related Outcomes	78
Effects of Social Comparison	80
The Interplay Between Growth Mindset and Social Comparison	82
Mechanisms of Peer Growth Mindset on Learning-Related Outcomes	84
Limitations and Future Directions	86
Theoretical and Practical Significance	88
Methodological Innovations	89
Conclusion	90
References	91
Appendices	104
Appendix A: Questionnaires by Survey	104
Appendix B: Study Procedure Flowchart	105

Appendix C: Example Avatar Creation 106
Appendix D: Peer Mindset Manipulation – Growth Mindset Condition 107
Appendix E: Peer Mindset Manipulation – Control Condition 108
Appendix F: Social Comparison Manipulation 109
Appendix G: Survey 1 110
Appendix H: Brief Survey 119
Appendix I: Manipulation Check 120
Appendix J: Survey 2 121
Appendix K: Sample Raven's Progressive Matrices Item
Appendix L: Sample PERC Item
Appendix M: Model Fit Indices Comparing Constrained Versus Unconstrained Paths 134

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Correlations and Descriptive Statistics for Growth Mindset, Learning-Related Outcomes, and Social Comparison Tendency Prior to the Manipulation 36
Table 2: Descriptive Statistics and Randomization Tests for Pre-Manipulation Variables by Condition
Table 3: Manipulation Check of Perceptions of Competence by Condition
Table 4: Peer Growth Mindset and Social Comparison Effects on Upward Identification 43
Table 5: Peer Growth Mindset and Social Comparison Effects on Perceptions of Self-Competence
Table 6: Peer Growth Mindset and Social Comparison Effects on Task Value
Table 7: Peer Growth Mindset and Social Comparison Effects on Self-Regulated Learning 49
Table 8: Peer Growth Mindset and Social Comparison Effects on Mastery Behaviors 51
Table 9: Peer Growth Mindset and Social Comparison Effects on Upward Contrast 55
Table 10: Peer Growth Mindset and Social Comparison Effects on Perceptions of Peers' Competence 57
Table 11: Peer Growth Mindset and Social Comparison Effects Summary
Table 12: Total, Direct, and Indirect Effects for Mediation Model of Perceptions of Peers' Competence
Table 13: Total, Direct, and Indirect Effects for Mediation Model of Upward Identification 69
Table 14: Total, Direct, and Indirect Effects for Mediation Model of Perceptions of Peers' Competence and Upward Identification

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Conceptual Framework Testing Hypothesis 1	19
Figure 2: Conceptual Framework Testing Hypothesis 4	20
Figure 3: Upward Identification with Peers by GM and SC Condition	44
Figure 4: Perceptions of Self-Competence by GM and SC Condition	46
Figure 5: Task Value by GM and SC Condition	48
Figure 6: Self-Regulated Learning by GM and SC Condition	50
Figure 7: Mastery Behaviors by GM and SC Condition	52
Figure 8: Upward Contrast with Peers by GM and SC Condition	56
Figure 9: Perceptions of Peers' Competence by GM and SC Condition	58
Figure 10: Perceptions of Peers' Competence Partially Mediated the Associations Between Peer Growth Mindset and Learning-Related Outcomes	64
Figure 11: Upward Identification Partially Mediated the Associations Between Peer Growth Mindset and Learning-Related Outcomes	68
Figure 12: Combined Mediation Model	71

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

Students' belief in the malleability of intelligence, often referred to as growth mindset, has been shown to predict a variety of academic outcomes (Blackwell et al., 2007; Good et al., 2012). In their efforts to understand the role of social agents in fostering growth mindsets in the classroom, researchers have studied teachers and have implemented them into growth mindset intervention programs (Menanix, 2015; Seaton, 2018; Sun, 2015). As a result, in a recent US nationally represented survey, over 90% of teachers agreed that growth mindset is a key factor in students' academic success, and the majority of teachers reported regularly applying growth mindset practices in their classrooms (Yettick et al., 2016). However, amid this "mindset revolution," little attention has been paid to an equally present social agent in the classroom: the students' peers.

Peers have a substantial influence on one another, particularly during adolescence (De Goede et al., 2009). Academically, adolescence is a critical time during which individuals make choices about their future career paths and prepare for the transition from secondary school to college, a process that is greatly influenced by their peer affiliations (Yazedjian et al., 2007). Peer influence on educational outcomes is driven by numerous factors, including selection and socialization, but also by social comparison, as students look to their peers as a reference point in order to gauge their own academic competence and potential (Dijkstra et al., 2008). These social comparison processes

greatly influence students' academic self-perceptions, particularly their perceptions of competence, as well as their academic achievement. As such, social comparison and its resulting consequences may interact with students' implicit beliefs about intelligence to shape their academic trajectories. Although much of the growth mindset literature has examined adolescents in educational settings and there is growing attention on the role of peers, the simultaneous consideration of peers and social comparison influences has yet to be studied. Hence, an investigation of how peer endorsement of growth mindset and social comparison influence students' own mindset and learning outcomes represents a gap in the mindset literature. Concurrent investigation of these topics may reveal important implications for the development of intervention programs and inform further research on the role of peers in adolescents' functioning and future career paths.

This dissertation investigated the interplay between peer mindset and social comparison and their effects on adolescents' motivational and academic outcomes using an experimental paradigm in which participants' perceptions of peers' growth mindsets and their comparative standings relative to their peers were manipulated. Participants were middle school age adolescents ages 12-14, the developmental period during which peer influence is at its strongest (Berndt, 1979; Brown et al., 2008; De Goede et al., 2009), and a seminal time for self-concept and identity development (Harter, 1990). This study may further our understanding of the role of peers in the transmission of beliefs about intelligence and will help answer the question of how mindsets are socialized, which could inform future mindset intervention programs. Furthermore, examining the relationship between peer mindset and social comparison will provide insight into how

implicit theories of intelligence may operate during students' peer interactions in the classroom, which often involve evaluation and comparison, and elucidate the different contexts under which peer mindset operates to best influence students' learning.

Mindset Theory

Mindset theory posits that children's underlying beliefs about the origin of intelligence impact their academic achievement and motivation. According to Dweck (2000), individuals fall along a continuum of *fixed* to *growth* mindsets. On one end of the spectrum is the fixed mindset, the belief that intelligence is an innate entity that is stable and unchangeable. On the other end of the spectrum is the growth mindset, the belief that intelligence can be improved through practice and effort. Mindset theory arose from achievement goal theory, which is concerned with children's underlying objectives for achievement behaviors and how differing goals affect learning motivation (Dweck & Leggett, 1998; Elliot & Harackiewicz, 1996). Children who endorse fixed mindsets ascribe to performance goals: Their primary aim is to prove their ability to others through successful performance. On the other hand, children who endorse growth mindsets are more inclined to have learning goals: They are not as focused on performance but rather want to gain a deeper understanding of the subject material and master it (Dweck & Leggett, 1988; Payne et al., 2007).

These different theories of intelligence and their accompanying goal orientations affect children's responses to challenging tasks (Mueller & Dweck, 1998). When the task is easy, both fixed and growth mindset children show high engagement and persistence, but discrepancies arise once the task becomes difficult. For the fixed mindset child,

failure indicates lack of ability. Although performance to confirm their ability is the primary goal, rather than risk denouncing their ability through poor performance, these children will disengage from the task and exhibit a helpless response, undermining their achievement outcomes. However, because children with growth mindsets do not see failure as a lack of ability but instead as a learning opportunity, they persist through challenging tasks, remain motivated, and demonstrate better achievement outcomes (Mueller & Dweck, 1998). Corroborating this notion, Cho and colleagues (2019) found that growth and fixed mindsets were directly associated with mastery and performance goals, respectively, and that goal orientation completely mediated the effects of mindset on children's reading engagement and achievement. More specifically, growth mindset led to increased mastery goal orientation, which improved learning outcomes. These findings align with past literature illustrating the beneficial effects of mastery goal orientation on students' achievement (for a review, see Covington, 2000), though it is important to note that certain types of performance goals (i.e., performance approach goals) may have positive achievement effects as well (Harackiewicz et al., 1998; 2002). Consequently, mindset theory has many implications for children's achievement motivation and success in the academic arena. Endorsement of a growth mindset will positively impact learning and motivation, while endorsement of a fixed mindset will negatively impact educational outcomes.

Mindset and Achievement Outcomes

Much empirical literature has garnered support for mindset theory. Research in this area can be classified into two categories: studies on the effects of pre-existing

mindsets and studies on the effects of induced growth mindsets. Pre-existing endorsement of a growth mindset is associated with numerous educational advantages, including increased engagement and achievement (Blackwell et al., 2007; Bostwick et al., 2017), persistence (Aditomo, 2015), as well as decreased self-handicapping behaviors (Martin et al., 2013). These associations have been found in numerous age groups spanning young children to emerging adults. For example, in 7-9th graders, Bostwick et al. (2017) found that students who naturally endorsed a growth mindset earned higher mathematics grades and had increased mathematics engagement. In a study of undergraduates, Aditomo (2015) found that students with a growth mindset showed more motivation and persistence throughout the course of a difficult statistics class, ultimately achieving higher grades as well. Natural endorsement of a growth mindset also may serve as a protective factor for students of low socioeconomic status (Claro et al., 2106) and for those at risk for stereotype threat (Aronson et al., 2002; Good et al., 2012).

Research on induced mindsets, as opposed to naturally occurring mindsets, has emphasized the role of *process* versus *ability* praise (Mueller & Dweck, 1998; Gunderson et al., 2013). Process praise, wherein the teacher or parent praises the student based on effort (e.g., You did great, you must have worked really hard!) has been shown to promote a growth mindset, whereas ability praise, wherein the student's natural talent is emphasized (e.g., You did great, you must be really smart!) promotes a fixed mindset (Mueller & Dweck, 1998). As such, process praise and other methods of conveying a growth mindset, such as teaching students about the brain's plasticity and ability to grow (e.g., Donahoe et al., 2012), have been employed in various mindset intervention studies.

These interventions have had mixed results, with some proving effective at increasing achievement (Blackwell et al., 2007), and others showing no effects (Fabert, 2014). However, as emphasized in a meta-analysis by Sisk and colleagues (2018), these inconsistent findings do not necessarily mean that growth mindset interventions are ineffective. Rather, growth mindset may be more beneficial for students of particular demographics and circumstances, such as those facing academic challenge or low SES, compared to other students (Yeager & Dweck, 2020; Yeager et al., 2019). It may also be the case that certain methods of mindset transmission (e.g., teacher, online, or peer delivered), are more or less effective for different students. More research is needed to examine these additional potential moderators of mindset effects, as well as different methods of cultivating growth mindset in students. Notably, successful mindset manipulations have been administered incrementally over time (e.g., Blackwell et al., 2007), but also have proven effective using brief, single timepoint sessions (e.g., DeBacker et al., 2018; Paunesku et al., 2015).

Theories of Peer Influence

Peers refer to same-age individuals who share similar interests, identities, and interact with one another frequently (Sallee & Tierney, 2007). Like parents and teachers, peers make a unique contribution to children's development, taking center stage during adolescence (De Goede et al., 2009). Selection and socialization theories of peer influence postulate that peer groups self-select based on shared attitudes, interests and socio-demographics (McPherson et al., 2001), and become more similar over time via the creation of and adherence to group norms (Abrams & Hogg, 1990). Peers are most

influential when they are perceived as desirable and high in status (Cohen & Prinstein, 2006), and past research has shown that adolescents will model their behavior according to their perceptions of what is normative of their popular peers, regardless of whether or not their peers actually engage in these behaviors (Helms et al., 2014; Prentice & Miller, 1996). Hence, the purported attitudes and behaviors peers convey to one another shape individuals' beliefs and choices. When children enter adolescence, they spend increasingly more time with peer groups, making peers substantial socializing agents during this age that greatly impact students' academic beliefs and achievement (Rodkin & Ryan, 2012; Ryan, 2000).

Peers and Achievement Outcomes

Peers play a major role in students' academic lives (for a review, see Rodkin & Ryan, 2012). Past research has shown that peers influence not only one another's academic achievement (Wentzel & Caldwell, 1997; Gallardo et al., 2016), but also affect school behavior (Berndt et al., 1999), motivation-related beliefs about school (Altermatt & Pomerantz, 2003), engagement (Kindermann, 2007) and school adjustment (Wentzel et al., 2004). For example, Kindermann (2007) found that students' peer group levels of academic engagement predicted their own engagement throughout the school year, while Gallardo et al. (2016) found that peer acceptance predicted increased student achievement. Such positive associations of peers on students' learning have also been shown to persist through college (Ashwin, 2003; Zimmerman, 2003).

Although little research has specifically investigated how peer beliefs about intelligence influence students' achievement, there is some research heading in this

direction. For example, Laninga-Wijnen and colleagues (2018) found that, in classrooms in which mastery goals were a perceived norm, there was an increased influence of friends on students' achievement, compared to classrooms with perceived performance goal norms. Other research by Poortvliet et al. (2009) has shown that individuals primed to endorse mastery goals were perceived as more cooperative and helpful to others, and provided them with more useful information. As mastery goals are an integral component of the growth mindset, it may be the case that peers who communicate a growth mindset viewpoint are more influential toward their fellow students' beliefs as well as facilitative of their learning outcomes.

Two longitudinal studies provide further evidence for peer effects on growth mindset. In a study of high school students, King (2020) found that the mindsets of students' classmates predicted their own mindset endorsement, even after controlling for their previous mindset 7 months earlier. Additionally, a report on the National Study of Learning Mindsets examined the effects of peer norms on a growth mindset intervention (Yeager et al., 2019). This longitudinal study involved a brief, online mindset intervention that was delivered to a nationally representative sample of 9th grade high school students. Results of the study indicated a moderation of peer norms on students' post-intervention grades, such that students' grades increased after the mindset intervention when peer norms corresponded to growth mindset-oriented behaviors (i.e., challenge-seeking). These findings garner support for the idea that peer mindset environment influences both students' own mindsets as well as their achievement outcomes and highlights the need for more research in this area.

Peers and Mindset Transmission

Theories of mindset transmission via socialization by parents and teachers have traditionally focused on the role of person versus process praise. For example, in Mueller and Dweck's (1998) seminal mindset study, process praise (praise for effort) was used to induce growth mindset in the participants, while person praise (praise for ability) was used to induce fixed mindset. Other research has added support to this notion by showing that parents' use of effort praise with their children at one to three years of age predicted growth mindset endorsement five years later (Gunderson et al., 2013), and teacher use of person praise predicted fixed mindset-type responses to failure in undergraduate students (Skipper & Douglas, 2012). These studies indicate that the types of messages parents and teachers communicate to children through praise can facilitate their mindset endorsement.

Unlike parents and teachers, peers represent a different type of relationship because there is equal status between the two social partners, referred to in the literature as a horizontal relationship (Hartup, 1989). Praise more often occurs in vertical relationships where one partner has authority over the other, such as in parent-child relationships. Rather, peer relationships, particularly in adolescence, often involve mutual exchange and self-disclosure (Rubin et al., 2007), and peer effects are largely driven by perceptions of popular behaviors and attitudes (Helms et al., 2014). Thus, it may be more appropriate to prime mindsets using peer self-statements, and to measure indicators of peer influence such as the individual's identification with the peers and perceptions of their abilities. Accordingly, the current research used an alternative method for studying mindset influence in the peer context – by manipulating the types of statements (i.e.,

effort vs ability) peers express regarding a challenging task, in order to communicate peer mindset beliefs.

Peers and Social Comparison

Peers influence one another not only through selection and socialization, but also through social comparison processes. According to the theory of social comparison, humans possess a fundamental drive toward self-evaluation and self-improvement and consequently look to others as a means to accomplish these goals (Festinger, 1954). In the classroom, social comparison is a ubiquitous, often unavoidable part of students' educational experience. The frequency and duration of social comparison behaviors in the classroom increases with age and has been observed as early as kindergarten (Ruble et al., 1976), with overt comparison behaviors more prevalent in younger children and older children exhibiting more subtle comparison behaviors (Pomerantz et al., 1995). Social comparison takes on different forms and functions for the individual and carries with it both costs and benefits (Dijkstra et al., 2008). For instance, though social comparison has been shown to increase academic achievement, it also may interfere with students' motivation to learn through diminished feelings of competence and academic selfconcept (Altermatt & Pomerantz, 2005; Raat et al., 2013). These effects are often contingent on the type of social comparison and the individuals' resulting selfperceptions.

Social comparison manifests in three different ways: upward, downward, and lateral (Djikstra et al., 2008). Upward comparison occurs when students compare themselves with others who are deemed more competent than themselves, while

downward comparison occurs when students compare themselves with worse others. Lateral comparison occurs when students compare themselves to others who are equal in ability. Festinger's (1954) theory of social comparison postulates that individuals choose to engage in upward comparison when they seek to improve their abilities, referred to as self-improvement, lateral comparison when they want to evaluate their own abilities, and downward comparison when they want to feel better about themselves, referred to as self-enhancement. There is some empirical work in support of these notions. For example, in a study by Ruble and colleagues (1976), 2nd grade participants often reported engaging in upward social comparison for task-oriented reasons, such as wanting to know how the other participant was performing while completing a task (coloring), and also exhibited increased effort after comparing, suggesting an aim toward self-improvement. In the same vein, Huguet et al. (2001) found that the majority of students ages 12-14 years chose to engage in upward comparison for self-improvement reasons.

Achievement of the goals that motivate social comparison depends on the individual's level of identification or contrast with the comparison target (Djikstra et al., 2008). In the case of upward social comparison, identification is optimal. For example, if a student compares her exam score with another student who has outperformed her for the purpose of learning how she can perform better on a subsequent exam score, she must see herself as similar enough to the other student in order to believe that she too is capable of improving her score. This explains why, when seeking upward comparison targets, students tend to choose peers who are similar to themselves in terms of gender, race, and age (Blanton et al., 1999; Dumas et al., 2005; Huguet et al., 2001). Conversely,

in situations of downward comparison, it is better to contrast with the target. If the student compares her exam with another student who has underperformed her, she should see herself as dissimilar to the other student, lest she think she might also perform poorly on the next exam.

Focusing on the educational context, the theory of social comparison argues that the type and resulting identification/contrast students experience with their classmates shapes their perceptions of academic competence, self-concept, and future potential, which consequently affect their achievement outcomes (Djikstra et al., 2008). In the same vein with the stereotype threat literature, students' identification and contrast with groups shapes not only their perceptions and concerns regarding how they will be viewed by others, but also their perceptions of themselves, known as *self-stereotyping* (Sinclair et al., 2006). If students contrast with higher achieving peers and/or identify with lower achieving peers, these resulting self-stereotypes could dampen their perceptions of competence and alter their behavior in the classroom, which can significantly impact them academically (Chouinard et al., 2007; Schunk & Pajares, 2005).

Social Comparison and Achievement Outcomes

In educational settings, the most frequent mode of social comparison reported by students is upward social comparison (Blanton et al., 1999; Pulford et al., 2018; Wehrens et al., 2010). Some research suggests students who compare with higher-achieving peers have increased academic achievement (Gremmen et al., 2018; Jackson, 2013; McVicar et al., 2016; Wehrens et al., 2010). However, other research refutes this notion, either by showing no effects of upward social comparison on achievement (Dobbie & Fryer, 2014;

Jonsson & Mood, 2008) or negative effects (Véronneau & Dishion, 2011). Regarding downward social comparison, some research has paralleled the effects of upward comparison (e.g., students with lower-achieving peers had decreased academic achievement), but other research has found no negative effects on achievement (McVicar et al., 2016).

Past literature on the affective outcomes of social comparison has revealed that, regardless of whether it is upward or downward, social comparison may increase students' evaluative anxiety (Butler, 1989), stress (Bossong, 1985), and sadness (Hokoda et al., 1989). More recent findings pertaining specifically to upward comparison reveal mostly negative effects, including decreased academic self-concept (Trautwein et al., 2009), perceptions of competence (Altermatt & Pomerantz, 2005), self-esteem (Harvey & Keyes, 2019), and increased math anxiety (Erdoğan et al., 2011). In contrast, some research suggests engaging in downward comparison may have beneficial consequences, such as increased perceptions of competence and positive affect (Steinbeis & Singer, 2013; Chayer & Bouffard, 2010). In line with these findings, other research indicates that students especially prefer to engage in downward social comparison when they are feeling stressed (Suls & Wheeler, 2000) or after they have suffered an academic setback (Aspinwall & Taylor, 1993). However, as highlighted earlier, the effects of social comparison often depend on the level of identification or contrast the individual has with the comparison target. For example, Buunk and colleagues (2005) found that when students engaged in upward social comparison but also identified with the higherachieving peer, they were less likely to experience resentment, worry, and were actually

more inclined toward positive affect and feelings of encouragement about their own their future potential. Hence, it is important to consider both students' direction of social comparison as well as their resulting self-perceptions when evaluating social comparison effects on educational outcomes.

Mindset and Social Comparison Effects on Academic Pursuits

Scant research has examined the joint effects of social comparison and growth mindset on academic outcomes concurrently. One study of undergraduates by Nussbaum & Dweck (2008) examining these two constructs revealed an interesting relationship. Students primed to endorse a fixed mindset more frequently engaged in downward comparison (choosing to review strategies of a lower performing other) as a means of self-esteem repair following a failure experience. On the other hand, students primed with a growth mindset engaged in less downward comparison and more frequently chose to compare with an individual who had outperformed them as a means of self-improvement. This study demonstrates the link between growth mindset and social comparison, supporting the notion that implicit theories of intelligence prompt the adoption of different goals in times of challenge, which are accomplished via different types of social comparison.

Other research, though not examining mindset explicitly, has examined its associated mastery and performance goal orientation on social comparison consequences. Following induced upward social comparison, Carmona et al. (2008) found that students who were focused on failure prevention (performance-avoidance goals) were more likely to contrast with the upward comparison target, which resulted in decreased self-efficacy

and achievement outcomes. Conversely, in another study by Kamarova and colleagues (2017), the adoption of mastery goals resulted in increased positive mood and perceptions of competence following an upward social comparison experience. According to researchers, these results can be explained by the mastery goal advantage effect, which argues that mastery-approach goals protect students from the harmful effect of upward social comparison on perceptions of competence. This effect also has been documented in studies examining students' responses to negative feedback (e.g., Lee & Kim, 2014).

Because the mastery goal orientation is argued to be a consequence of growth mindset (Dweck, 2000), endorsement of this implicit theory of intelligence may aid students in the mastery goal advantage effect, motivating them to engage in behaviors post-upward social comparison that are beneficial to their learning while protecting them from its negative consequences. In support of this, a growth mindset intervention by Micari and Pazos (2014) found that participants who received training about the malleability of intelligence experienced less concern about social comparison when working in groups compared to those who had not received the training, the effects of which were especially strong for students of lower ability. Taken together, these findings underscore the need to further examine how mindset and social comparison processes interact to affect students' learning outcomes, particularly in the peer context where many of these comparison experiences occur.

Early Adolescence as a Unique Developmental Period

Early adolescence is a time marked by numerous biological, social, and cognitive changes that coincide with additional changes in students' educational environments

(Eccles et al., 1993). In contrast to elementary school, when students typically remain with the same class and a single teacher throughout the school year, middle school often involves larger class sizes and multiple teachers as well as increases in teacher restrictiveness, performance evaluation, and decreased quality of teacher-student relationships (Lynch & Cicchetti, 1997; Wu & Hughes, 2015). These changes are at odds with adolescents' desire for increased autonomy and intimacy during this period of development (Eccles & Midgley, 1989; Feldlaufer et al., 1988). According to stageenvironment fit theory, this lack of fit manifests in students' decreased academic achievement and engagement at this age (Eccles & Midgley, 1989; Eccles et al., 1993). Consistent with this theory, many students show declines in motivation and academic performance after entering middle school (Eccles & Midgley, 1989; Harter, 1981), and middle school students report decreases in academic, personal, and interpersonal functioning, particularly when transitioning from sixth to seventh grade (Barber & Olson, 2004).

Additionally, adolescence is a critical time for self-concept and identity formation (Harter 1990), a process that is greatly influenced by peer affiliations. Adolescents spend more time with their peers than with their parents (Brown & Larson, 2009; Larson & Richards, 1991), and compared to elementary school students, middle school students report more positive relationships with their peers than with adults (Lynch & Cicchetti, 1997). Due to this shift, as students enter adolescence, they are increasingly influenced by their peers' attitudes and behaviors, both socially and academically (De Goede et al., 2009). Furthermore, the transition from elementary to middle school brings an increase in

the role of perceptions of competence on students' self-concept (Zanobini & Usai, 2002). For this reason, social comparison processes may be especially relevant at this age, as individuals look to others in order to evaluate themselves and their capabilities. Due to decreases in motivation and achievement as well as increased susceptibility to peer pressure and self-evaluation, early adolescence is an optimal developmental period to study peer mindset and social comparison influences as a possible avenue to counteract these negative achievement effects.

Overview of the Current Research

Drawing from mindset theory, theories of peer influence, and social comparison theory, the present study examined the effects of peer growth mindset endorsement and social comparison experiences on middle school students' mindset endorsement, academic self-perceptions, and learning outcomes. Based on past literature demonstrating the positive effects of growth mindset on academic achievement and the wealth of research on peer influence in adolescence, it was expected that adolescents' growth mindsets would be influenced by peer beliefs, which would subsequently affect their motivation and learning outcomes. However, because peer interactions in the educational context often involve social comparison, which independently influences students' academic perceptions and achievement, it was expected that growth mindset would moderate this relationship, serving to provide a buffer against the negative impact of upward social comparison.

A prior line of work examining peer mindset environment and learning outcomes in undergraduate students (Sheffler & Cheung, 2020) demonstrated that peers who

endorsed a growth mindset were perceived by others to be more competent than peers who endorsed a fixed mindset, and interactions with these growth mindset peers resulted in increased task value, an important learning outcome. However, this experimental study left many unanswered questions. Because the study was conducted with undergraduate students, it is not known whether similar peer effects would be observed in adolescents. Due to the heightened role of peer influence in adolescence, it is possible that peer mindset effects could be stronger and affect other learning outcomes beyond task value. Furthermore, it is not known how the individual's own competence perceptions and comparisons with peers' competence are influenced by growth mindset, nor whether growth mindset may serve as a buffer against negative comparison experiences, which could reveal critical knowledge about the function of growth mindset in adolescents' daily academic interactions with classmates.

To address these research gaps, this experimental study manipulated adolescents' perceptions of their peers' implicit theories of intelligence and competence via a forced social comparison experience. Peer groups were simulated in an online setting using avatars that were purportedly created by previous adolescent participants. Participants read and listened to statements they were led to believe their peers expressed. Social comparison was manipulated by providing feedback on the activity and visually representing the participant and their peers' scores using a virtual leaderboard. Assessing participants' baseline growth mindsets, manipulating their peers' mindsets, and prompting a social comparison experience allowed investigation of adolescents' pre-existing growth mindset and peer mindset influences as well as how growth mindset

affects the consequences of social comparison on their learning. By utilizing a middle school aged sample, I was able to examine peer mindset effects in adolescents at the ideal developmental stage when peer influence is most salient. Additionally, by directly manipulating perceptions of peers' competence via social comparison, I was able to test peer competence as a mechanism of mindset transmission and examine self and peer growth mindset influences on motivation and learning outcomes.

Research Hypotheses

The current study examined the following hypotheses:

 It was expected that peer growth mindset endorsement would predict increased participant growth mindset, which would subsequently lead to improved learningrelated outcomes, including effort, value, perceptions of competence, mastery behaviors, and objective performance (see Figure 1).

Figure 1

Conceptual Framework Testing Hypothesis 1



2. Upward social comparison would predict decreased learning-related outcomes and increased negative learning-related consequences, including test anxiety and upward contrast.

- 3. In accordance with past literature on upward social comparison and academic outcomes, it was expected that peer growth mindset would interact with social comparison, such that it would lessen the negative learning-related consequences of upward social comparison.
- 4. Replicating the relationship between growth mindset and perceptions of peers' competence in the adolescent sample, it was expected that growth mindset peers would be perceived as more competent than neutral mindset peers, and these increased competence perceptions would mediate the relationship between peer growth mindset and learning-related outcomes. Upward identification with peers was also examined as a potential mechanism of peer growth mindset effects on learning-related outcomes.

Figure 2

Conceptual Framework Testing Hypothesis 4



CHAPTER 2

Method

Design

This experimental study utilized a 2x2 factorial design in which participants heard statements from purported peers and completed a series of problem-solving tasks. The two independent variables included manipulation of peers' mindsets (growth or neutral) and manipulation of the participants' perceptions of peers' competence (peers outperform or perform equally as well as the participant), resulting in a forced social comparison scenario. Dependent variables included participant endorsement of growth mindset, social comparison identification and contrast, achievement goal orientations, self and peer perceptions of competence, numerous learning outcome assessments: objective performance, task value and effort, mastery behaviors (persistence, effort, resilience, challenge-seeking), and self-regulated learning strategies.

Participants began the study by creating an avatar to virtually represent themselves and then completed a questionnaire. Before beginning the series of problemsolving tasks, participants were introduced to four other peer avatars, and heard and read statements about the task that they were led to believe were written by their peers. These statements included peer endorsement of either a growth implicit theory of intelligence or a neutral statement regarding the task. Then, a brief survey assessed participants' initial perceptions of their peers, and participants completed the first problem-solving task. After completion of the first problem-solving task, social comparison was induced by providing the participants with false feedback regarding their and their peers'

performance via a leaderboard with the participants' and their peers' avatars' scores. After the social comparison, a brief manipulation check ensued, followed by a second battery of problem-solving tasks and final questionnaire. See Appendix A for a breakdown of measures in each survey.

Participants

Participants were 120 middle school age adolescents (M = 12.73 years, SD =0.82) recruited from the University of California, Riverside Child Studies participant pool. In order to be eligible for the study, participants were required to be between the ages of 12-14 to ensure they were in the middle school age range, and be fluent in English to be able to complete the surveys and activities. Participants were 57.5% female, 39.2% male, and 3.3% other (i.e., gender-fluid, non-binary), and were of diverse ethnic background (31.1% White, 30.3% Multiracial, 29.4% Hispanic/Latinx, 5.9% Black, 1.7% Asian or Pacific Islander, 1.7% American Indian or Alaskan Native). The sample size of 120 (30 per group) approximates the sample size of 128 that was calculated using G*Power (Faul et al., 2007) for a 2x2 factorial ANCOVA and determined to be the number necessary to detect medium effect sizes. All eligible participants from the UCR Child Studies database were contacted (approximately 1,280). However, due to difficulties with recruitment, 120 was the maximum sample that could be obtained. As compensation for their time, participants were emailed a \$10 Amazon, iTunes, Starbucks, or Target gift card upon completion of the study. Missing data were low (0.8%) and were evaluated using a missing value analysis in SPSS (Little, 1988). Results of the analysis indicated that the missing data were missing completely at random (MCAR), evident by a
nonsignificant χ^2 value, χ^2 (102) = 118.67, p = .124. As such, imputation methods for missing data were not needed, as the missing data were not associated with the values of any of the observed or unobserved variables (Scheffer, 2002).

Procedure

Participants were invited to participate in the study via email, text, or phone invitation. An opt-in procedure was used for recruitment, such that parents must provide consent for their children to participate in the study and adolescents must provide assent. Parents and children received these forms with the study appointment confirmation email and were prompted to provide an electronic signature in an online form indicating their agreement to participate. The researcher explained that the purpose of the study was to understand how adolescents learn in an online environment. Upon obtaining parental consent as well as child assent, the researcher proceeded with a one-time Zoom appointment with the child participant. During the Zoom appointment, the participant completed several questionnaires and two sets of problem-solving activities. The researcher remained available on Zoom throughout the study appointment to answer any questions, and communicated to the participants that they were free to discontinue the study at any time without consequence. Parents were permitted to be present at the beginning of the study and at the end to verify receipt of the gift card, but were not permitted to be present during the study so as not to influence participants' responses.

A flowchart illustrating the study paradigm is included in Appendix B. At the start of the study, the participant was greeted in Zoom by the researcher, who explained the purpose of the study and instructed the participant to create an avatar using the

Nintendo® Mii Studio program (see Appendix C). The purpose of creating an avatar was to enable participants to visually represent themselves and simulate a peer group in a virtual environment. After creating their avatar, participants were given a link to the first questionnaire, distributed via Qualtrics. The purpose of the first questionnaire was to measure pre-existing growth mindset and assess baseline achievement and social comparison related variables (i.e., competence, goal orientation, challenge-seeking, and general social comparison tendency).

Upon completion of the first questionnaire, the peer mindset manipulation took place. The researcher shared their screen with the participants, showing them the avatars of four other purported participants alongside their own avatar. Participants were told "I would like to introduce you to four other kids who are about your same age and participated in the study earlier. After the study they recorded their thoughts about the activity." The researcher then pointed to the screen, and, indicating with the mouse, said "So here you are. And here are your four peers, Emma, Sophia, Jacob, and Ethan." Participants were then distributed a survey link where they were instructed to click on each peer's avatar to hear their thoughts about the problem-solving activity. In the growth mindset condition (see Appendix D), participants heard statements from their purported peers such as "I've heard about these types of tests before. They measure certain types of intelligence. With practice, you can improve your score." and "After you do the activity, you receive your score. I think if you keep trying, you can always do a little better." In the control condition (see Appendix E), participants received statements of the same length and tone but without growth mindset references, such as "I was told to work on the

activity, and it took about 10 minutes for me to complete it. After you do the activity, you receive your score." and "There were different kinds of questions. I spent more time on some of the problems than on others." The peer statements appeared in speech bubbles to the right of each avatar and were also spoken aloud. The statements were recorded by two adolescents of the same age as the participants (one 12-year-old male and one 14-year-old female), and the pitch was adjusted for two of the avatars so that the voices sounded as though they originated from four different individuals. Participants were instructed to click on each avatar before proceeding to a brief survey, which measured initial perceptions about the purported peers (i.e., perceptions of competence), and a timer ensured participants could not advance to the next screen before having heard all of the statements. The timed presentation of the statements also served to bolster the fidelity of the mindset manipulation.

After completing the brief survey, participants were introduced to the first problem-solving activity, which consisted of a spatial reasoning task (Raven's Progressive Matrices). The researcher explained how to complete the task with an example item, then distributed a survey link to the first set of 10 problems. Participants were given 10 minutes to complete it. Upon completion of the first problem-solving task, the second manipulation was conducted. Participants were told "Now that you are done with the first activity, I'd like to show you how you performed compared to your peers...Your score has been added to our leaderboard of past participants' scores." The participants were then shown a leaderboard with their and their peers' scores listed next to their avatar in order of highest to lowest score (see Appendix F). In the neutral (no

comparison) condition, the leaderboard indicated that the participants performed well, with a score of 89/100, which is between their peers' scores toward the top of the leaderboard, indicating that both the participant and their peers performed equally well. In the upward comparison condition, the leaderboard indicated that the participants performed poorer than the majority of their peers, ranking third lowest with a score of 47/100. Following this feedback, the researcher instructed the participant to complete a brief manipulation check survey to ensure the social comparison manipulation was effective. Then, upon completion of this questionnaire, the participant completed a second problem-solving task, followed by a second questionnaire. The purpose of the second questionnaire was to measure changes in growth mindset endorsement, social comparison identification and contrast, and several learning-related perceptions and outcomes (e.g., task self-competence, effort, value, and engagement).

After completion of the second questionnaire, the researcher debriefed the participant. The researcher explained that the true purpose of the study was to examine peer and social comparison effects on adolescents' views about intelligence and learning outcomes. The researcher clarified that the feedback the participant received about their score was not indicative of their actual score, and that the peer statements they heard as well as their peers' performance were fictitious. The researcher then distributed the gift card via email, and a parent joined the Zoom session to verify receipt of the gift card by signing an online form. After answering any questions the participant or parent had, the researcher ended the Zoom meeting, concluding the study.

Measures

Study measures included student self-report measures as well as objective measures of student engagement and performance on the problem-solving task. Data were collected in 4 online questionnaires distributed via Qualtrics. The first questionnaire (see Appendix G) was completed prior to the experimental manipulations and included measures of perceptions of academic self-competence, achievement goal orientation, challenge-seeking, effort, general social comparison, implicit theories of intelligence, and demographics. Then, a brief survey assessing participants' initial competence perceptions of their peers was delivered after the mindset manipulation (see Appendix H), and a brief manipulation check consisting of a few competence items took place after the social comparison manipulation to ensure its effectiveness (see Appendix I). The second survey packet (see Appendix J) was distributed after the experimental manipulation and included social comparison contrast and identification, implicit theories of intelligence, taskspecific achievement goal orientation, perceptions of competence in the task for self and peers, task anxiety, task value, task effort, and self-regulated learning. Participants' scores on the problem-solving tasks were collected as a measure of objective performance, and the second problem-solving task was utilized both for objective performance and mastery behaviors (see Appendices K-L).

General Perceptions of Academic Self-Competence. This 4-item scale adapted from Wigfield et al. (1991) assessed students' general perceived competence in school (e.g., "How good are you at school?" 1 = Not at all good to 7 = Very good). This measure had acceptable reliability, $\alpha = .80$. General Achievement Goal Orientation, Challenge-Seeking, and Effort. Four items measured participants' learning (e.g., "How important is it to you that you learn a lot in school?") and performance (e.g., "How important is it to you to do well in school?") goal orientations, challenge-seeking (e.g., "How much do you like to do difficult work in school?"), and effort (e.g., "How much effort do you put into your schoolwork?") (Wigfield et al., 1991; Pomerantz et al., 2000). These single construct items were administered to assess their general associations with growth mindset and social comparison tendency.

General Social Comparison. The short version of the Iowa-Netherlands Comparison Orientation Scale (Gibbons & Bunk, 1999; Schneider & Schupp, 2014) measured participants' underlying tendencies toward social comparison. This scale consists of 6 items on a 5-point scale (1 = Strongly disagree to 5 = Strongly agree). Example items include "I always pay a lot of attention to how I do things compared with how others do things" and "I am not the type of person who compares often with others" (reversed). A confirmatory factor analysis indicated that this measure aligned best as two factors (one 4-item and one 2-item factor). Both factors had poor reliability, and could not be improved by removing items. The 4-item factor with the better reliability, $\alpha = .65$, was used for subsequent analyses, and parallel models using the 2-item factor did not differ from the 4-item factor.

Implicit Theories of Intelligence. Six items adapted from Dweck (2000) were used to measure participants' implicit theories of intelligence. Participants indicated the degree to which they agreed with each statement on a 5-point scale (1 = Strongly disagree

to 5 = Strongly agree). Example items include "No matter how much intelligence you have, you can always change it quite a bit" and "Your intelligence is something very basic about you that you can't change very much" (reverse-coded). Reliability analyses indicated that initial reliability was beyond the conventionally accepted level, $\alpha = .68$. Removal of two items, "The harder you work at something, the better you will be at it" and "Truly smart people do not need to try hard (reverse coded)" were removed to achieve an improved Cronbach's alpha of .76. This 4-item growth mindset measure was used in all subsequent models, which did not differ when the 6-item measure was also acceptable, $\alpha = .77$.

Self-Regulated Learning. This 12-item instrument adapted from Dowson and McInerney (2004) measured participants' methods and use of strategies when learning new material. Item wordings were altered to capture self-regulated learning strategies specific to the problem-solving activities. The measure included 3 of the original 5 subscales: elaboration (e.g., "When working on the activity, I tried to see how things fit together with things I already know"), monitoring (e.g., "I checked to see if I understood the things I was trying to learn during the activity"), and planning (e.g. "When doing the activity I picked out the most important parts first"). This instrument achieved high reliability, $\alpha = .92$.

Social Comparison Identification and Contrast. This 6-item instrument adapted from Van Der Zee (2000) and Kang et al. (2013) for the academic setting was used to measure participants' identification and contrast with their peers following a

social comparison experience. Participants were asked to "Think about how you felt after receiving feedback on your peers' performance on the problem-solving task." Half of the items measured identification with an upward comparison target (e.g., "I realize it is possible for my score to also improve") and half of the items measured contrast with an upward comparison target (e.g., "It is threatening to notice that I am doing not so well on the problem-solving task."). Both subscales achieved acceptable reliability, $\alpha = .76$ (identification) and $\alpha = .80$ (contrast).

Perceptions of Competence in the Task for the Self and Peers. Eight items measured on a 5-point scale (1 = Strongly disagree to 5 = Strongly agree) assessed participant's perceived self-competence and peers' competence at the problem-solving task (Bandura, 1986). Items 1-4 measured the participants' perceptions of their own ability (e.g., "I feel confident in my ability to improve at the task") and items 5-8 measure their perceptions of their peers' ability (e.g., "They are capable of learning the material in the task"). Reliability was acceptable for both self-perceptions, $\alpha = .85$, and peers' perceptions of competence, $\alpha = .85$.

Task Anxiety. An adapted version of the short form Test Anxiety Inventory (TAI) (Spielburger, 2010; Taylor & Deane, 2002) was used to measure participants' test-related anxiety regarding the problem-solving task. This instrument consisted of 5 items and was measured on a 5-point scale (1 = Strongly disagree to 5 = Strongly agree). Example items include "During the problem-solving task I felt very tense" and "During the problem-solving task I felt very tense" and "During the problem-solving task I felt so nervous that I forgot facts I really know." Reliability was acceptable, $\alpha = .86$.

Task Value and Effort. Adapted from Pomerantz et al. (2000), this 8-item instrument measured the degree to which participants viewed the problem-solving task as personally meaningful to them and the degree of effort they invested in it. Half of the items were designed to capture task value (e.g., "It's important to me to get the right answers on the problems" and the other half to capture task effort (e.g., "I made sure I understood each step of the problems"). Both subscales achieved acceptable reliability, $\alpha = .81$ (task value), and $\alpha = .82$ (task effort).

Initial Competence Perceptions at the Problem-Solving Task. Four items adapted from Wigfield et al. (1991) assessed students' perceptions of their own and their peers' competence at the problem-solving task (e.g., "Compared to others, how well do you think you/your peers will perform on the problem-solving activity": 1 = a lot worse than others to 5 = a lot better than others). These items were distributed as the Brief Survey (see Appendix H). Cronbach's alpha was acceptable for self-competence, $\alpha = .73$, but was poor for peers' competence, $\alpha = .53$.

Social Comparison Comprehension. Participants' understanding of the social comparison manipulation was assessed with 3 items (e.g., "Compared to your peers, how well did you perform on the problem-solving activity?": 1 = Not at all well to 5 = Very well). These items were distributed as the Manipulation Check (see Appendix I). Self-competence reliability was high, $\alpha = .94$. Other competence reliability could not be calculated as it was a single item.

Problem-Solving Tasks and Objective Mastery Behaviors. Participants completed two sets of problem-solving activities consisting of Raven's Progressive

Matrices (Raven et al., 1977), an abstract reasoning measure in which participants identify the missing piece to a visual pattern. The first set contained both medium and difficult Raven's progressive Matrices items selected by the researcher and designed to be challenging for the participants (see Appendix K). Average performance (out of 10) on this first set indicated that it was indeed challenging for participants, M = 5.05, SD = 1.78.

The second set consisted of the PERC Task, an established measure that uses Raven's Progressive Matrices to assess mastery behaviors, including persistence, effort, resilience, and challenge-seeking (Porter, 2020; see Appendix L). This task begins with four easy Raven's Matrices items to assess baseline ability, then assesses challengeseeking by asking participants if they would like to do easier or harder puzzles for the next set. Subsequently, participants receive three Raven's items of medium difficulty level and are given the option to view tips on how to solve each problem. The total time spent on these items and tips captures effort. Then, participants are given one easy item (for a break), followed by four difficult items. Time spent on the four difficult items was assessed as a measure of persistence. Participants finish the task with three easy problems, and the percent correct on this set measures resilience. The overall PERC measure of mastery behaviors was calculated using the SPSS script provided by Porter (2020) that was utilized during its original construction. Effort and persistence sub scores were corrected for skewness using a square root transformation and Winsorized outlier values to 3 standard deviations from the adjusted mean, and were then rescaled to achieve a range of 0 to 1. These scores were then added to the challenge-seeking sub score

(binary item: 0 no challenge-seeking, 1 challenge-seeking) and resilience sub score, which was measured via the percentage of resilience items participants answered correctly, resulting in a maximum PERC score of 4.

CHAPTER 3

Results

Overview of Analyses

Several analyses were conducted to assess the relationship between peer growth mindset and social comparison on participants' learning-related perceptions and behavioral outcomes. First, correlation analyses assessed baseline associations between participants' pre-existing mindsets, learning-related outcomes, and general social comparison tendencies. Next, in accordance with this study's experimental design, a randomization check was conducted to confirm equivalence across groups. Subsequently, a manipulation check was conducted to assess the effectiveness of the social comparison experimental manipulation. Finally, a series of ANCOVA and three mediation models were conducted to test the research hypotheses. ANCOVA models examined group differences in the learning-related outcome variables. After assessing group differences, path analysis mediation models with nested model comparison then tested potential mechanisms of the manipulation effects on their predicted outcomes. All correlation and ANCOVA models were conducted using IBM SPSS, and the mediation path models were conducted using Mplus Version 8.7 (Muthén & Muthén, 1998- 2017).

Pre-Existing Growth Mindset and Social Comparison Associations with Learning-Related Outcomes

Prior to the manipulation, participants reported on their pre-existing growth mindset endorsement, learning-related outcomes, and social comparison tendency. Descriptive statistics for these pre-manipulation measures are shown in Table 1. Consistent with hypotheses, participants' growth mindset endorsement was positively associated with nearly all learning-related outcomes, including perceptions of academic competence (r = .29, p < .01), learning goals (r = .27, p < .01), and challenge-seeking (r = .30, p < .01). However, in contrast to past literature, growth mindset was not associated with self-reported effort, (r = .05, ns). Social comparison tendency was positively associated with both learning goals (r = .25, p < .01) and performance goals (r = .25, p < .01).

Correlations and Descriptive Statistics for Growth Mindset, Learning-Related Outcomes, and Social Comparison Tendency Prior to the Manipulation

Variables	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1. Growth Mindset	-						
2. Academic Competence	.29**	-					
3. Learning Goals	.27**	.33**	-				
4. Performance Goals	.19*	.45**	.59**	-			
5. Challenge-Seeking	.30**	.41**	.49**	.27**	-		
6. Effort	.05	.28**	.39**	.38**	.18	-	
7. Social Comparison Tendency	.04	.07	.25**	.25**	.09	.10	-
M	3.71	5.15	5.38	5.95	3.58	5.81	3.49
SD	0.81	1.12	1.56	1.35	1.73	1.00	0.66

Note. *p < .05. **p < .01, two-tailed.

Randomization Check

A set of one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted to check for group differences across the demographic measures and learning-related outcomes assessed prior to the manipulations. These include (1) demographics (i.e., age, gender, race/ethnicity, SES), and (2) reports of attitudes and behaviors (i.e., pre-existing growth mindset, general academic competence, learning and performance goals, challengeseeking and effort, general social comparison tendency, and expectations of competence at the problem-solving task). Results of the one-way ANOVAs revealed no significant differences across the four groups (see Table 2). These results indicate that the randomization of participants into the 2x2 factorial design (peer growth mindset/control and upward social comparison/control conditions) was effective. As such, any group differences observed after the manipulations could not be attributed to preexisting differences among the participants.

	Condition											
	Neutral/NoNeutral/UpwardGrowth/NoGrowth/UpwardComparisonComparisonComparisonComparison											
	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	F	df	р	η^2
1. Age	12.67	0.76	12.50	0.78	12.87	0.86	12.90	0.85	1.59	3, 116	.196	.039
2. Gender	1.37	0.49	1.50	0.51	1.37	0.56	1.60	0.68	1.22	3, 116	.305	.031
3. Race/Ethnicity	5.07	0.87	4.76	1.38	4.57	1.01	4.70	1.09	1.11	3, 115	.347	.028
4. SES	6.47	1.22	6.43	1.70	6.93	1.51	6.90	1.45	1.00	3, 116	.395	.025
5. Growth Mindset	4.03	0.51	3.64	0.84	3.66	0.81	3.52	0.98	2.22	3, 116	.090	.054
6. Academic Competence	5.10	1.10	5.13	1.16	5.15	1.03	5.22	1.22	0.06	3, 116	.982	.001
7. Learning Goals	5.76	1.24	5.37	1.35	5.30	1.60	5.10	1.94	0.92	3, 116	.433	.023
8. Performance Goals	6.10	1.21	6.13	0.90	5.83	1.44	5.73	1.74	0.63	3, 116	.596	.016
9. Challenge-Seeking	3.80	1.56	3.17	1.78	3.63	1.85	3.70	1.75	0.78	3, 116	.506	.020
10. Effort	5.60	1.00	5.97	0.93	5.63	1.00	6.03	1.07	1.50	3, 116	.219	.037
11. SC Tendency	3.53	0.62	3.56	0.65	3.43	0.72	3.45	0.68	0.24	3, 116	.870	.006
12. Expectations of	3.45	0.57	3.52	0.79	3.57	0.67	3.67	0.80	0.51	3, 113	.680	.013
Competence at Problem- Solving Task												

Descriptive Statistics and Randomization Tests for Pre-Manipulation Variables by Condition

Note. Gender coded as 1 = Female 2 = Male 3 = Other. Race/Ethnicity coded as 1 = American Indian or Alaskan Native 2 = Asian or Pacific Islander 3 = Black 4 = Hispanic/Latinx 5 = White 6 = Multiracial. SC refers to social comparison.

Manipulation Check

The present study included two manipulations, the first involving purported peer growth mindset or neutral statements, and the second involving an upward social comparison or neutral comparison experience. Although the peer growth mindset manipulation was not tested for effectiveness, the manipulation survey included a timer so that participants could not advance to the next screen until they listened to all of the statements. The statements were also included in typed speech bubbles next to each avatar so that participants both heard and read the statements. This ensured that participants received the manipulated statements. In the upward social comparison condition, participants were led to believe they had performed more poorly than their peers on the problem-solving task, while in the neutral condition, they were led to believe they had performed equally as well as their peers. To assess the effectiveness of this second manipulation, a one-way ANOVA was conducted to check for group differences in participants' self-reported perceptions of their and their peers' competence after completing the first problem-solving task. As expected, the results showed significant differences between groups on perceptions of self versus peer competence F(3, 115) =191.19, p < .001 (see Table 3). Post hoc analyses indicated that participants in the upward social comparison condition rated their own performance significantly lower than their peers' performance compared to participants in the neutral comparison condition, regardless of peer growth mindset condition. This indicates that the upward social comparison manipulation was effective.

Manipulation Check of Perceptions of Competence by Condition

				Cor								
	Neutr	al/No	Neutral/	Neutral/Upward Growth/No Growth/Upward								
	Comp	arison	Comp	arison	Compa	arison	Comp	arison				
	М	SD	М	SD	M	SD	М	SD	F	df	р	η^2
1. Perceptions	3.85 _a	0.49	1.53 _b	0.66	3.92a	0.48	1.49 _b	0.51	191.19	3, 115	.000	.833
of Competence												
at Problem-												
Solving Task												

Note. Perceptions of competence measure administered directly after social comparison manipulation, prior to second problemsolving task. Different letter subscripts indicate a significant difference at p < .01.

Effects of Peer Growth Mindset and Social Comparison on Learning-Related Outcomes

To address Hypothesis 1, that peer growth mindset endorsement would predict increased participant growth mindset and its associated learning outcomes, a series of Analysis of Covariance (ANCOVAs) was conducted to examine the effects of the peer growth mindset manipulation on participants' learning-related perceptions and behaviors. All models included age, gender, race/ethnicity, SES, pre-existing growth mindset, and pre-existing social comparison tendency as covariates. Contrary to expectations, results of the ANCOVAs revealed no significant effect of peer growth mindset condition on participants' change in growth mindset, F(1, 109) = 0.01, p = .935. Participants in both the peer growth mindset and the neutral condition endorsed growth mindset statements to a similar extent (M = 3.90, SD = 0.69 and M = 4.05, SD = 0.59, respectively). However, consistent with hypotheses, there were significant effects of peer growth mindset condition on several learning-related perceptions and outcomes. Regarding perceptions, there were significant effects of peer growth mindset condition on upward identification, F(1, 109) = 10.91, p = .001 (see Table 4, Figure 3), perceptions of self-competence, F(1, 109) = 10.91, p = .001 (see Table 4, Figure 3), perceptions of self-competence, F(1, 109) = 10.91, p = .001 (see Table 4, Figure 3), perceptions of self-competence, F(1, 109) = 10.91, p = .001 (see Table 4, Figure 3), perceptions of self-competence, F(1, 109) = 10.91, p = .001 (see Table 4, Figure 3), perceptions of self-competence, F(1, 109) = 10.91, p = .001 (see Table 4, Figure 3), perceptions of self-competence, F(1, 109) = 10.91, p = .001 (see Table 4, Figure 3), perceptions of self-competence, F(1, 109) = 10.91, P = .001 (see Table 4, Figure 3), perceptions of self-competence, F(1, 109) = .001, P =109 = 7.39, p = .008 (see Table 5, Figure 4), and perceptions of peers' competence, F(1, 1)109 = 5.00, p = .027. Participants who heard growth mindset statements from their peers showed increased identification with peers who outperformed them compared to participants who heard neutral statements, and also showed increased perceptions of their own and their peers' competence at the problem-solving task. Regarding self-reported learning outcomes, there were significant effects of growth mindset condition on task

value, F(1, 109) = 4.48, p = .037 (see Table 6, Figure 5), and self-regulated learning, F(1, 109) = 4.07, p = .046 (see Table 7, Figure 6), such that participants in the peer growth mindset condition reported increased task value and use of self-regulated learning strategies. Furthermore, in examining the effects of peer growth mindset on participants' objective performance on the post-manipulation problem-solving task, results revealed a significant main effect of peer growth mindset condition on mastery behaviors, F(1, 109) = 4.92, p = .029 (see Table 8, Figure 7). This indicates that, compared to participants in the neutral mindset condition, participants in the growth mindset condition displayed increased persistence, effort, resilience, and challenge-seeking behaviors.

Peer Growth Mindset and Social Con	parison Effects	on Upward	Identification
------------------------------------	-----------------	-----------	----------------

	F	df	р	η^2
Predictors				
GM Condition	10.91	1, 109	.001	.091
SC Condition	1.05	1, 109	.309	.010
GM x SC Condition	0.21	1, 109	.646	.002
Covariates				
Age	3.55	1, 109	.062	.032
Gender	0.09	1, 109	.766	.001
Race/Ethnicity	0.39	1, 109	.535	.004
SES	1.95	1, 109	.165	.018
Pre-existing GM	14.03	1, 109	.000	.114
Pre-existing SC	3.65	1, 109	.059	.032

Note. Age, gender, race/ethnicity, socioeconomic status (SES), pre-existing growth mindset (GM) and pre-existing social comparison (SC) included as covariates.



Upward Identification with Peers by GM and SC Condition



Note. Means adjusted for age, gender, race/ethnicity, SES, pre-existing growth mindset and pre-existing social comparison tendency. Error bars represent \pm one standard error. *p < .05, **p < .01.

	F	df	n	n ²
Predictors	1	uj	μ P	IJ
GM Condition	7.39	1, 109	.008	.064
SC Condition	0.08	1, 109	.777	.001
GM x SC Condition	0.00	1, 109	.949	.000
Covariates				
Age	0.94	1, 109	.336	.009
Gender	0.97	1, 109	.326	.009
Race/Ethnicity	0.02	1, 109	.885	.000
SES	0.00	1, 109	.971	.000
Pre-existing GM	8.55	1, 109	.004	.073
Pre-existing SC	2.29	1, 109	.134	.021

Peer Growth Mindset and Social Comparison Effects on Perceptions of Self-Competence

Note. Age, gender, race/ethnicity, socioeconomic status (SES), pre-existing growth mindset (GM) and pre-existing social comparison tendency (SC) included as covariates.



Perceptions of Self-Competence by GM and SC Condition



Note. Means adjusted for age, gender, race/ethnicity, SES, pre-existing growth mindset and pre-existing social comparison tendency. Error bars represent \pm one standard error. **p < .01.

Peer Growth Mindset and Social Comparison Effects on Task Value

	F	df	р	η^2
Predictors				
GM Condition	4.48	1, 109	.037	.039
SC Condition	0.16	1,109	.690	.001
GM x SC Condition	2.46	1, 109	.120	.022
Covariates				
Age	0.42	1, 109	.519	.004
Gender	2.74	1,109	.101	.025
Race/Ethnicity	0.05	1, 109	.828	.000
SES	0.28	1, 109	.597	.003
Pre-existing GM	0.43	1, 109	.513	.004
Pre-existing SC	4.87	1, 109	.029	.043

Note. Age, gender, race/ethnicity, socioeconomic status (SES), pre-existing growth mindset (GM) and pre-existing social comparison tendency (SC) included as covariates.

Figure 5

Task Value by GM and SC Condition



Note. Means adjusted for age, gender, race/ethnicity, SES, pre-existing growth mindset and pre-existing social comparison tendency. Error bars represent \pm one standard error. *p < .05.

Peer	Growth	Mindset	and	Social	Compa	rison	Effects	on S	Self-	Regu	lated	Learnin	g
------	--------	---------	-----	--------	-------	-------	---------	------	-------	------	-------	---------	---

	F	df	р	η^2
Predictors				
GM Condition	4.07	1, 109	.046	.036
SC Condition	0.16	1, 109	.686	.002
GM x SC Condition	0.00	1, 109	.956	.000
Covariates				
Age	0.52	1, 109	.473	.005
Gender	0.76	1, 109	.386	.007
Race/Ethnicity	0.00	1, 109	.974	.000
SES	0.12	1, 109	.733	.001
Pre-existing GM	0.12	1, 109	.732	.001
Pre-existing SC	6.16	1, 109	.015	.053

Note. Age, gender, race/ethnicity, socioeconomic status (SES), pre-existing growth mindset (GM) and pre-existing social comparison tendency (SC) included as covariates.



Self-Regulated Learning by GM and SC Condition



Note. Means adjusted for age, gender, race/ethnicity, SES, pre-existing growth mindset and pre-existing social comparison tendency. Error bars represent \pm one standard error. *p < .05.

Peer Growth Mindset and Social Comparison Effects on Mastery Behaviors

	F	df	р	η^2
Predictors				
GM Condition	4.92	1, 109	.029	.043
SC Condition	1.16	1, 109	.284	.011
GM x SC Condition	1.23	1, 109	.270	.011
Covariates				
Age	2.31	1, 109	.131	.021
Gender	2.54	1, 109	.114	.023
Race/Ethnicity	5.01	1, 109	.027	.044
SES	1.61	1, 109	.207	.015
Pre-existing GM	13.97	1, 109	.000	.114
Pre-existing SC	0.08	1, 109	.782	.001

Note. Age, gender, race/ethnicity, socioeconomic status (SES), pre-existing growth mindset (GM) and pre-existing social comparison tendency (SC) included as covariates.



Mastery Behaviors by GM and SC Condition



Note. Means adjusted for age, gender, race/ethnicity, SES, pre-existing growth mindset and pre-existing social comparison tendency. Error bars represent \pm one standard error. *p < .05.

To address Hypothesis 2, that the social comparison manipulation would result in negative learning-related consequences, ANCOVA models examined the effects of the social comparison manipulation on learning-related outcomes As expected, there was a significant main effect of social comparison condition on upward contrast, F(1, 109) = 4.54, p = .035 (see Table 9, Figure 8), such that participants in the upward social comparison condition reported increased upward contrast with peers compared to participants in the neutral social comparison condition. As was found with the growth mindset manipulation, there was also a significant main effect of the social comparison manipulation on perceptions of peers' competence, F(1, 109) = 4.89, p = .029, such that participants in the upward comparison conditions believed their peers to be more competent and capable of performing well at the problem-solving task (see Table 10, Figure 9).

Hypothesis 3 predicted that there would be an interaction of the peer growth mindset and social comparison conditions on participants learning outcomes and selfperceptions, such that peer growth mindset might dampen the negative consequences of social comparison and increase positive outcomes. This was tested by assessing the interaction terms in the ANCOVA models detailed above for all outcome variables, including identification/contrast, self- and peers' competence perceptions, task effort, task value, learning goals, self-regulated learning, task anxiety, mastery behaviors, and performance on the Raven's Matrices task. Contrary to hypotheses, no significant interactions between peer growth mindset condition and social comparison condition were found. This indicates that peer growth mindset condition did not lessen or

strengthen the effects of the social comparison manipulation on participants' selfperceptions and learning-related outcomes.

Peer Growth Mindset and Social Comparison Effects on Upward Contrast

	F	df	р	η^2
Predictors				
GM Condition	0.02	1, 109	.882	.000
SC Condition	4.54	1, 109	.035	.040
GM x SC Condition	2.76	1, 109	.100	.025
Covariates				
Age	1.28	1, 109	.261	.012
Gender	0.26	1, 109	.613	.002
Race/Ethnicity	0.37	1, 109	.543	.003
SES	0.52	1, 109	.820	.000
Pre-existing GM	0.37	1, 109	.543	.003
Pre-existing SC	1.41	1, 109	.238	.013

Note. Age, gender, race/ethnicity, socioeconomic status (SES), pre-existing growth mindset (GM) and pre-existing social comparison (SC) included as covariates. *p < .05, **p < .01.



Upward Contrast with Peers by GM and SC Condition



Note. Means adjusted for age, gender, race/ethnicity, SES, pre-existing growth mindset and pre-existing social comparison tendency. Error bars represent \pm one standard error. *p < .05, **p < .01.

Predictor	F	df	р	η^2
GM Condition	5.00	1, 109	.027	.044
SC Condition	4.89	1, 109	.029	.043
GM x SC Condition	0.02	1, 109	.894	.000
Age	0.00	1, 109	.999	.000
Gender	0.00	1, 109	.961	.000
Race/Ethnicity	0.10	1, 109	.756	.001
SES	0.60	1, 109	.439	.006
Pre-existing GM	8.55	1, 109	.004	.073
Pre-existing SC	2.69	1, 109	.104	.024

Peer Growth Mindset and Social Comparison Effects on Perceptions of Peers' Competence

Note. Age, gender, race/ethnicity, socioeconomic status (SES), pre-existing growth mindset (GM) and pre-existing social comparison (SC) included as covariates.



Perceptions of Peers' Competence by GM and SC Condition



Note. Means adjusted for age, gender, race/ethnicity, SES, pre-existing growth mindset and pre-existing social comparison tendency. Error bars represent \pm one standard error. *p < .05, **p < .01.
Other Effects of Peer Growth Mindset and Social Comparison on Learning-Related Outcomes

In addition to the above outcome variables, several other motivation and learningrelated outcome variables were analyzed to examine the effect of the growth mindset and social comparison manipulations. Contrary to hypotheses, no effect of peer growth mindset, F(1, 109) = 2.63, p = .108 or social comparison condition, F(1, 109) = 0.31, p = .108.580 was found for participant self-reported task effort. Similarly, no effect of peer growth mindset, F(1, 108) = 2.33, p = .130 or social comparison condition, F(1, 108) =0.28, p = .599 was found for learning goals. It was expected that objective performance on the second problem-solving task may be affected by the manipulations, but no effect of peer growth mindset, F(1, 109) = 2.09, p = .151 or social comparison condition, F(1, 109) = 2.09, p = .151 or social comparison condition, F(1, 109) = 2.09, p = .151 or social comparison condition, F(1, 109) = 2.09, p = .151 or social comparison condition, F(1, 109) = 2.09, p = .151 or social comparison condition, F(1, 109) = 2.09, p = .151 or social comparison condition, F(1, 109) = 2.09, p = .151 or social comparison condition, F(1, 109) = 2.09, p = .151 or social comparison condition, F(1, 109) = 2.09, p = .151 or social comparison condition, F(1, 109) = 2.09, p = .151 or social comparison condition, F(1, 109) = 2.09, p = .151 or social comparison condition, F(1, 109) = 2.09, p = .151 or social comparison condition, F(1, 109) = 2.09, p = .151 or social comparison condition, F(1, 109) = 2.09, p = .151 or social comparison condition. 109 = 0.74, p = .392, was found. It was also expected that anxiety regarding the problem-solving task may be affected by the manipulations, but no effect of peer growth mindset, F(1, 109) = 0.00, p = .962, or social comparison condition, F(1, 109) = 0.93, p = 0.9.337, was found. As with the peer growth mindset condition, there was also no effect of or social comparison condition, F(1, 109) = 2.54, p = .114 on participants' change in growth mindset endorsement. A summary of significant main effects for both manipulations is shown in Table 11.

Table 11

	Significant Main Effect		
Outcome	GM Condition	SC Condition	
Beliefs and Perceptions			
Change in GM	X	X	
Upward Identification	1	X	
Upward Contrast	X	1	
Perceptions of Self-Competence	- √	X	
Perceptions of Peers' Competence	- √	√	
Task Effort	X	X	
Task Value	- √	X	
Learning Goals	X	X	
Self-Regulated Learning	- √	X	
Task Anxiety	X	X	
Objective Behaviors			
Mastery Behaviors	1	X	
Raven's Matrices Performance	X	X	

Peer Growth Mindset and Social Comparison Effects Summary

Note. Green check marks represent significant main effects at p < .05. Age, gender, race/ethnicity, socioeconomic status (SES), pre-existing growth mindset (GM) and pre-existing social comparison (SC) included as covariates.

Mechanisms of Peer Growth Mindset Influence on Learning-Related Outcomes

Hypothesis 4 predicted a replication of prior research demonstrating that perceptions of peers' competence mediated the relationship between peer growth mindset and learning-related outcomes (Sheffler & Cheung, 2020). It was also predicted that identification with higher performing peers would explain the relationship between peer growth mindset and learning-related outcomes. As such, this set of analyses tested the role of perceptions of peers' competence and upward identification as viable mechanisms underlying the association between peer growth mindset and learning outcomes. The mediation models were evaluated in the context of path analysis using Mplus Version 8.7 (Muthén & Muthén, 1998-2017). A total of 3 models was evaluated. The first model tested perceptions of peers' competence as a mechanism underlying the association between peer growth mindset and learning-related outcomes, which included all outcomes that were influenced by the growth mindset manipulation (apart from the suspected mediation variables): perceptions of self-competence, self-regulated learning strategies, task value, and mastery behaviors. All models included age, gender, race/ethnicity, SES, pre-existing growth mindset, and pre-existing social comparison tendency as covariates. Both gender and race/ethnicity were dummy-coded prior to their inclusion in the models, as is necessary for nominal data (Lyons, 1971). To minimize the number of covariates in the model, gender and race/ethnicity were coded as single dummy coded variables, with gender coded as: 1 = female, 0 = male. Non-binary and genderfluid participants (n = 4) were excluded due to low frequencies. Race/ethnicity were coded as 1 = underrepresented minority status (including all American Indian or

Alaskan Native, Black, and Hispanic/Latinx participants) and 0 = non-underrepresented minority status (including all White participants; Carter, 2006). Asian or Pacific Islander participants (n = 2) were excluded due to lack of specific information regarding their group membership. This dummy coding system was selected in order to minimize the number of covariates in the models while retaining as much information as possible. Separate models were assessed for each of the two mediators (i.e., perceptions of peers' competence and identification with peers) as well as a combined model with both mediators. Nested model comparison was employed to determine whether mediation effects differed between the social comparison conditions.

The first mediation model assessed the role of perceptions of peers' competence as a viable mechanism (see Figure 10). The Indirect command in Mplus with bootstrap estimation of 1000 samples (Shrout & Bolger, 2002) was used to assess direct, indirect, and total effects with 95% confidence intervals. Delta tests of indirect effects were conducted to determine whether the associations between peer growth mindset and learning-related outcomes were explained by perceptions of peers' competence. Replicating past research (Sheffler & Cheung, 2020), results revealed that perceptions of peers' competence was a significant mediator in the relationship between peer growth mindset condition and task value (see Table 12). When perceptions of peers' competence was added to the model, the association between peer growth mindset and task value and the other outcome variables were reduced. The indirect effects of peer growth mindset on task value (upward comparison condition only, marginal effect for neutral comparison condition, z = 1.92, p = .055), perceptions of self-competence, and self-regulated learning

(upward comparison condition only) via perceptions of peers' competence were significant, z's = 2.00 to 2.13, p's = .033 to .046.

Figure 10

Perceptions of Peers' Competence Partially Mediated the Associations Between Peer Growth Mindset and Learning-Related Outcomes



Note. Standardized regression coefficients for the relationship between peer mindset condition and learning-related outcomes as mediated by perceptions of peers' competence. Estimates for both social comparison conditions were presented (neutral comparison condition/upward comparison condition). Boldface indicates an unconstrained path with a significant difference between the neutral and upward comparison conditions. All other paths did not differ across conditions and were constrained in the final model. Model adjusted for age, gender, race/ethnicity, SES, pre-existing growth mindset and pre-existing social comparison tendency. *p < .05, **p < .01.

Table 12

Total, Direct, and Indirect Effects for Mediation Model of Perceptions of Peers' Competence

Effect		95% CI		
	Estimate	SE	Lower	Upper
Peer GM Predicting Self-Competence				
Total Effect	.28/.22	.14/.11	.02/.01	.55/.45
Direct Effect	.17/.14	.13/.10	06/05	.44/.35
Indirect Effect				
Peer GM Condition \rightarrow Perceptions of PC \rightarrow Self-Competence	.11/.09	.05/.04	.02/.02	.22/.18
Peer GM Predicting SRL				
Total Effect	.15/.21	.12/.11	08/02	.37/.41
Direct Effect	.10/.09	.11/.10	13/11	.32/.28
Indirect Effect				
Peer GM Condition \rightarrow Perceptions of PC \rightarrow SRL	.05/.12	.04/.06	00/.02	.16/.26
Peer GM Predicting Task Value				
Total Effect	.21/.24	.11/.12	02/01	.41/.44
Direct Effect	.12/.14	.11/.11	10/09	.32/.35
Indirect Effect				
Peer GM Condition \rightarrow Perceptions of PC \rightarrow Task Value	.09/.11	.05/.05	.01/.02	.20/.24
Peer GM Predicting Mastery Behaviors				
Total Effect	.14/.15	.10/.11	06/09	.32/.33
Direct Effect	.15/.16	.10/.11	07/09	.33/.36
Indirect Effect				
Peer GM Condition \rightarrow Perceptions of PC \rightarrow Mastery Behaviors	00/01	.03/.03	07/07	.04/.05

Note. Standardized coefficients reported for neutral social comparison/upward social comparison conditions. GM refers to growth mindset, PC refers to peers' competence, SRL refers to self-regulated learning. CI's that do not cross zero indicate marginal and significant effects.

Nested model comparison tested whether the mediation effects differed between the two social comparison conditions. The fully unconstrained model was compared to a series of constrained models, in which each set of paths for the neutral and upward comparison conditions was constrained to be equal. Chi-square difference tests indicated that the constrained model fit equally as well as the unconstrained model for all but one path, perceptions of peers' competence \rightarrow self-regulated learning strategies, $\Delta \chi^2(1) >$ 3.84, p < .05 (see Appendix M). Thus, this path was allowed to freely vary between the neutral and upward comparison groups, while all other paths were constrained to be equal between groups, in order to achieve the most parsimonious model. The final model had excellent fit, $\chi^2(8) = 5.64, p = .688$, RMSEA = 0.00, CFI = 1.00, TLI = 1.00. A second mediation model assessed identification as a potential mediator (see Figure 11). Consistent with expectations, when identification was added to the model, the associations between peer growth mindset and the outcome variables were reduced. The indirect effect of peer mindset condition through identification was significant for self-competence and for self-regulated learning, z's = 2.25 to 3.23, p's = .001 to .024 (see Table 13). Additionally, there were marginally significant indirect effects for task value and mastery behaviors, z's = 1.83 to 1.94, p's = .052 to .068. As with the first model, this model was also tested for moderation of social comparison condition using nested model comparison. The chi-square difference test indicated no significant differences between the fit of the constrained and unconstrained paths, $\Delta \chi^2(1) < 3.84$, p's ns. This indicates that the model fits equally well in the neutral and upward comparison conditions. As such, all paths were constrained to be equal across social comparison groups to attain the most parsimonious final model. The final model had excellent fit, $\chi^2(9) = 5.48$, p = .791, RMSEA = 0.00, CFI = 1.00, TLI = 1.00.

Figure 11

Upward Identification Partially Mediated the Associations Between Peer Growth Mindset and Learning-Related Outcomes



Note. Standardized regression coefficients for the relationship between peer mindset condition and learning-related outcomes as mediated by upward identification. Estimates for both social comparison conditions were presented (neutral comparison condition/upward comparison condition). All paths did not differ between the two conditions and were constrained in the final model. Model adjusted for age, gender, race/ethnicity, SES, pre-existing growth mindset and pre-existing social comparison tendency. *p < .05, **p < .01.

Table 13

Total, Direct, and Indirect Effects for Mediation Model of Upward Identification

Effect		95% CI		
	Estimate	SE	Lower	Upper
Peer GM Predicting Self-Competence				
Total Effect	.27/.23	.13/.11	.03/.02	.53/.45
Direct Effect	.07/.06	.12/.10	15/12	.33/.28
Indirect Effect				
Peer GM Condition \rightarrow Upward Identification \rightarrow Self-Competence	.20/.17	.06/.06	.10/.08	.35/.30
Peer GM Predicting SRL				
Total Effect	.20/.17	.12/.10	04/03	.42/.36
Direct Effect	.07/.06	.11/.09	13/12	.28/.25
Indirect Effect				
Peer GM Condition \rightarrow Upward Identification \rightarrow SRL	.12/.11	.06/.05	.04/.03	.24/.22
Peer GM Predicting Task Value				
Total Effect	.23/.24	.11/.11	01/-0.00	.44/.43
Direct Effect	.14/.15	.11/.11	08/07	.36/.36
Indirect Effect				
Peer GM Condition \rightarrow Upward Identification \rightarrow Task Value	.09/.09	.05/.05	.01/.02	.20/.21
Peer GM Predicting Mastery Behaviors				
Total Effect	.13/.14	.10/.11	08/10	.31/.32
Direct Effect	.04/.04	.11/.12	19/21	.24/.26
Indirect Effect				
Peer GM Condition \rightarrow Upward Identification \rightarrow Mastery Behaviors	.10/.10	.05/.06	.02/.02	.22/.24

Note. Standardized coefficients reported for neutral social comparison/upward social comparison conditions. GM refers to growth mindset, SRL refers to self-regulated learning. CI's that do not cross zero indicate marginal and significant effects.

Lastly, a combined model with both perceptions of peers' competence and identification as mediators was assessed (see Figure 12). As in the first model, when perceptions of peers' competence and identification were included in the model, the associations between peer growth mindset and the outcome variables were reduced. Delta tests indicated that the indirect effect of peer mindset condition through identification was significant for perceptions of self-competence and mastery behaviors, z's = 2.03 to 3.02, p's = .001 to .042 (see Table 14). There was also a marginally significant indirect effect through identification on self-regulated learning strategies, z's = 1.87 to 1.88, p's = .060to .061. With identification added as an additional mediator, the previously significant indirect effects of peer mindset condition through peers' competence on task value, perceptions of self-competence, and self-regulated learning strategies (upward comparison condition only) were reduced to marginally significant, z's = 1.84 to 1.90, p's = .057 to .065. Consistent with the perceptions of peers' competence model, nested model comparison to test the moderation of social comparison groups indicated that one path, perceptions of peers' competence \rightarrow self-regulated learning strategies, was significantly different when constrained compared to when unconstrained, $\Delta \chi^2(1) > 3.84$, p < .05. Thus, this path was allowed to freely vary, while all other paths were constrained to be equal across groups for the final model. The final model had good fit, $\chi^2(15) =$ 16.47, *p* = .352, RMSEA = 0.04, CFI = 0.99, TLI = 0.94.

Figure 12

Combined Mediation Model



Note. Standardized regression coefficients for the relationship between peer mindset condition and learning-related outcomes as mediated by perceptions of peers' competence and upward identification. Estimates for both social comparison conditions were presented (neutral comparison condition/upward comparison condition). Boldface indicates an unconstrained path with a significant difference between the neutral and upward comparison conditions. All other paths did not differ across conditions and were constrained in the final model. Model adjusted for age, gender, race/ethnicity, SES, pre-existing growth mindset and pre-existing social comparison tendency. *p < .05, **p < .01.

Table 14

Total, Direct, and Indirect Effects for Mediation Model of Perceptions of Peers' Competence and Upward Identification Effect 95% CI

Effect	95% CI			CI
	Estimate	SE	Lower	Upper
Peer GM Predicting Self-Competence				
Total Effect	.28/.24	.13/.11	.04/.02	.54/.46
Direct Effect	.03/.02	.12/.10	18/16	.30/.24
Indirect Effect				
Peer GM Condition \rightarrow Perceptions of PC \rightarrow Self-Competence	.08/.07	.04/.04	.02/.01	.18/.15
Peer GM Condition \rightarrow Upward Identification \rightarrow Self-Competence	.18/.15	.06/.05	.08/.07	.32/.27
Peer GM Predicting Self-Regulated Learning				
Total Effect	.17/.22	.12/.11	06/.01	.40/.42
Direct Effect	.03/.03	.11/.10	17/16	.25/.22
Indirect Effect				
Peer GM Condition \rightarrow Perceptions of PC \rightarrow SRL	.04/.11	.03/.06	01/.02	.13/.26
Peer GM Condition \rightarrow Upward Identification \rightarrow SRL	.10/.08	.05/.05	.02/.02	.21/.18
Peer GM Predicting Task Value				
Total Effect	.21/.25	.11/.12	02/.00	.41/.44
Direct Effect	.08/.10	.11/.12	13/13	.29/.31
Indirect Effect				
Peer GM Condition \rightarrow Perceptions of PC \rightarrow Task Value	.08/.10	.04/.05	.01/.02	.19/.23
Peer GM Condition \rightarrow Upward Identification \rightarrow Task Value	.05/.05	.04/.05	02/02	.15/.17
Peer GM Predicting Mastery Behaviors				
Total Effect	.15/.16	.09/.10	06/08	.32/.32
Direct Effect	.06/.06	.10/.11	16/18	.26/.28
Indirect Effect				
Peer GM Condition \rightarrow Perceptions of PC \rightarrow Mastery Behaviors	02/02	.03/.03	10/10	.02/.03
Peer GM Condition \rightarrow Upward Identification \rightarrow Mastery Behaviors	.11/.12	.05/.06	.03/.02	.24/.25

Note. Standardized coefficients reported for neutral social comparison/upward social comparison conditions. GM refers to growth mindset, PC refers to peers' competence, SRL refers to self-regulated learning. CI's that do not cross zero indicate marginal and significant effects.

CHAPTER 4

Discussion

This dissertation examined the effects of peer growth mindset and social comparison on middle school-age adolescents' academic perceptions and learning-related outcomes. The 2x2 experimental design applied a novel online paradigm using simulated peer avatars to manipulate participants' beliefs about their peers' growth mindsets and induce a social comparison experience. Although change in participants' growth mindsets was not evident, peer growth mindset condition showed significant effects on several learning-related outcomes, while the social comparison condition affected competence and upward contrast perceptions. No interactions between peer growth mindset and social comparison were found, but, consistent with expectations, two mechanisms underlying the associations between peer growth mindset and learning-related outcomes were identified: perceptions of peers' competence and upward identification with peers.

Pre-Existing Growth Mindset and Learning-Related Outcomes

Preliminary correlation analyses revealed that participants' pre-existing growth mindset was positively associated with multiple learning-related beliefs and behaviors, including perceptions of academic competence, learning goals, and challenge-seeking. These findings align with the image one may conjure of the definitive "growth mindset child" established from past literature: a child who is optimistic about their academic potential, enjoys learning for the sake of learning, and always relishes a challenge (Mueller & Dweck, 1998; Dweck, 2000). Growth mindset also was associated with performance goals. Although this may seem contradictory to the notion of the growth mindset/learning goal and fixed mindset/performance goal dichotomy, more recent literature has demonstrated that learning and performance goals are not mutually exclusive, nor that performance goals are necessarily detrimental to learning outcomes (Harackiewicz et al., 2002). Furthermore, researchers argue that fixed mindsets may be more predictive of performance-avoidance goals (e.g., doing homework to avoid punishment), rather than performance-approach goals (e.g., doing homework to perform well in the class) (Yeager & Dweck, 2020), and the single item used to measure performance goals was a performance-approach item. Thus, these findings are consistent with past research and provide support for the notion of growth mindset endorsement as a beneficial force in adolescents' motivation and learning.

Interestingly, pre-existing growth mindset was not associated with self-reported effort in school, nor was it associated with pre-existing social comparison tendency. Regarding effort, it may be the case that the results were affected by a social desirability bias. As discussed in the introduction, as children's cognitive capacities change from childhood to adolescence, so too do their perceptions of the relationship between ability and effort (Nicholls, 1978). They begin to view effort as inversely related to ability, and, as such, may consider it a negative characteristic. For this reason, it may be the case that adolescents did not report their effort exertion in school accurately, and may have been more reluctant to report that they invested a lot of effort in school, which would be consistent with a growth mindset. However, it must also be acknowledged that, as with learning goals, performance goals, and challenge-seeking, effort in school was measured

with a single item (How much effort to you put in your schoolwork?), merely to gauge baseline associations. It may be the case that this single item did not accurately capture effort in academics, as participants may have differed in their interpretations of "schoolwork." Anecdotally, to illustrate this potential confusion, during one session a participant asked about this measure, whether it applied to homework, and, when told it applied to all school-related work, replied "We don't really have homework." Thus, a greater variety of items may have better captured this construct.

Pre-existing growth mindset also was not associated with pre-existing social comparison tendency. While there were no specific hypotheses regarding this construct, the complete lack of a relationship was surprising, given that social comparison tendency was associated with learning and performance goals, and, like growth mindset, is implicated in students' achievement and motivation (Altermatt & Pomerantz, 2005; Raat et al., 2013). However, unlike growth mindset endorsement, which has consistent, positive effects on achievement, social comparison's effects are mixed, and often contingent on the type of comparison that is utilized, with growth mindset predicting increased upward social comparison for self-improvement purposes, and fixed mindset predicting increased downward social comparison for self-esteem repair purposes (Nussbaum & Dweck, 2008). The measure used to assess pre-existing social comparison tendency was more general and was included mainly to be controlled for in the main analyses. As such, it did not include upward and downward subscales, which may explain why it was not associated with growth mindset endorsement.

Effects of Peers' Growth Mindset on Learning-Related Outcomes

Participants' self-reported change in growth mindset after the growth mindset and social comparison manipulations was of primary interest to this study and a major component of Hypothesis 1. It was expected that the peer growth mindset condition would lead to increased participant growth mindset endorsement, which would increase subsequent motivation and learning-related outcomes. Unexpectedly, no change was observed in participants' post-test growth mindset endorsement, regardless of condition. Numerous factors may have contributed to these contrasting findings, including the superficiality of the manipulated peer environment, the brevity and subtlety of the growth mindset manipulation, and the single time point design. Growth mindset represents a set of implicit beliefs about the nature of a fundamental concept, intelligence, the foundation of which may not be easily shaken, particularly by virtual characters with whom the individual has no prior connection or knowledge of. Had this study been conducted with real adolescent peers whom the participants knew, or perhaps even highly regarded friends, who are more influential than peer groups (Brown et al., 2008), growth mindset change may have been evident. Furthermore, although many single session growth mindset interventions have proven effective at increasing endorsement of growth mindset (e.g., DeBacker et al., 2018), it can sometimes take time for these core beliefs to change (e.g., Blackwell et al., 2007). For this reason, researchers recommend repeated reinforcement of growth mindset messages for optimal effectiveness (Yeager & Dweck, 2020). In this vein, it also may be the case that follow up assessments of growth mindset endorsement after a period of incubation would show evidence of change, which may

subsequently serve as a mechanism of the motivational and behavioral outcomes evident by the manipulation.

Despite no evidence of mindset change, participants in the peer growth mindset conditions showed a clear pattern of improved motivational and learning-related outcomes. Compared with participants in the neutral mindset conditions, the participants identified more with their peers who outperformed them, an adaptive strategy in social comparison scenarios that benefits the learner's motivation while offsetting negative emotional consequences (Buunk et al., 2005). Participants also reported increased perceptions of self-competence, task value and self-regulated learning strategies. Importantly, participants also showed increases in their mastery behaviors, measured via the persistence, effort, resilience, and challenge (PERC) task. This finding is notable because it represents an objective, measurable behavioral outcome. Not only did participants value the task and believe in their abilities to be competent at it, they also showed changes in their observed learning-related behaviors.

These results suggest that adolescents' peers' mindsets do affect their academic outcomes, albeit perhaps not as a direct result of mindset transmission. Rather, it appears that peers' mindsets affect adolescents' learning-related outcomes indirectly, via increased positive perceptions of peers' competence and identification with higher performing peers. This is consistent with Mueller and Dweck's (1998) foundational mindset study, wherein the mindset manipulation affected children's perceptions and behavioral outcomes, including task persistence, challenge-seeking, and enjoyment, rather than mindset per se. As discussed in the introduction, peers are most influential

when they are perceived as possessing desirable qualities and having high status (Cohen & Prinstein, 2006). Believing their growth mindset peers to be competent at the problemsolving task, a desirable quality, adolescents may have felt compelled to modify their behaviors and attitudes so as to conform to their peers, which explains their increased valuing of the task, self-regulated learning strategies, and self-perceptions of competence. Though not assessed in the current study, it is also possible that growth mindset peers may be perceived as more likable and higher in status compared to neutral mindset peers, which would further heighten their influence (Bukowski et al., 2015; Cohen & Prinstein, 2006). Coupled with these increased competence perceptions, adolescents also identified more with their higher performing growth mindset peers, which may have instilled them with optimism and motivation to engage in more learning-related behaviors that were conducive to improvement, so as to conform to their peers. Identification was revealed as the sole mediator in the relationship between peer growth mindset and the observed mastery behaviors. This finding suggests that, beyond adolescents' self-reported changes in attitudes and behaviors, their attempts to aspire to be like their higher performing peers, with whom they identified, were manifested through their mastery behaviors.

Effects of Social Comparison

In contrast to the numerous main effects of the peer growth mindset manipulation, only two main effects of the social comparison manipulation were present. Participants in the upward comparison condition perceived their peers to be higher in competence compared to participants in the neutral comparison condition. This finding was expected, and confirms that the manipulation was effective in persuading participants that their

peers had indeed outperformed them on the problem-solving task. More importantly, there was a main effect of the social comparison manipulation on upward contrast, such that participants in the upward comparison condition contrasted more with their peers who had outperformed them compared to participants in the neutral comparison condition. In other words, the participants were not inspired by their higher performing peers in hopes that their future performance on the task might also be high, but instead felt discouraged that their peers had outperformed them and disconnected themselves from them. Unlike identification (the adaptive social comparison strategy that was shown to be promoted by growth mindset peers), contrast represents a maladaptive social comparison strategy (Buunk et al., 2005). Past literature has shown that students who contrast with their higher performing peers in turn show dampened perceived scholastic competence, and this response also may be related to feelings of imposter syndrome (Boissicat et al., 2012; Chayer & Bouffard, 2010). As such, this finding aligns with past research on the effects of social comparison in the academic context, and the different ways in which students may respond to upward comparison scenarios.

It was expected that the upward social comparison manipulation, in addition to decreasing competence perceptions, may dampen other learning-related outcomes, in contrast to the positive effects of peer growth mindset. The present study did not find evidence of these dampening effects on any other learning-related outcomes, including task effort, value, self-regulated learning, and mastery behaviors. Although these null findings were surprising, they are not entirely inconsistent with past literature, as most of the effects of upward social comparison have revealed negative impacts related to self-

concept and perceptions, rather than overt behaviors (Altermatt & Pomerantz, 2005; Harvey & Keyes, 2019; Trautwein et al., 2009). However, there was also no evidence of social comparison effects on task anxiety, a finding that is at odds with past literature (Butler, 1989; Erdoğan et al., 2011). It may be the case that participants' anxiety was diminished due to the nature of the second problem-solving (PERC) task, which allowed participants to skip questions, examine correct answers and tips, and even included a friendly image of a puppy to boost spirits after the challenging items (Porter et al., 2020). These elements may have reduced participants' concern about their performance on the task so that they did not experience anxiety even when confronted with an upward social comparison scenario. As discussed above, the consequences of upward social comparison also may be diminished through identification with the upward comparison target (Buunk et al., 2005), a variable that was affected by the peer growth mindset manipulation.

The Interplay Between Growth Mindset and Social Comparison

The present study did not find evidence of interactive effects of peer growth mindset and social comparison. This lack of findings was surprising, given prior work linking social comparison and mastery goals (Kamarova et al., 2017) and intervention research demonstrating the positive impact of growth mindset training on social comparison concern (Micari & Pazos, 2014). From a theoretical standpoint, it is presumed that participants' avatar "peers" acted as socialization agents to influence their attitudes and behaviors. This influence operated at the group, as opposed to dyadic, level, wherein attitude and behavioral changes are a function of conformity to group norms and the internalization of group values (Bukowski et al., 2015). The present results suggest

that these processes were effective regarding the influence of peer growth mindset on learning-related outcomes, and were channeled through perceptions of competence and identification with peers. In contrast, the impacts of the social comparison manipulation on learning-related outcomes were substantially weaker. It may be the case that the social comparison scenario was too subtle and/or brief to substantially impact learning-related behavior and interact with the peer growth mindset effects. Perhaps, though it has been utilized in other studies (e.g., Christy & Fox, 2014), the virtual mode of delivery is not optimal for social comparison experiences. Alternatively, these results may speak to the mixed findings regarding upward social comparison effects on learning outcomes, which, though overwhelmingly negative regarding affective outcomes, have been shown to both positively and negatively affect achievement outcomes (Gremmen et al., 2018; Jackson, 2013; Véronneau & Dishion, 2011).

It also must be noted that this study was conducted during the height of the COVID-19 pandemic, a time when the majority of US schools were conducting classes remotely (e.g., via Zoom), and students had limited in-person interaction. Researchers suggest that these changes in students' school environment may have greatly reduced their school engagement (Chiu, 2022). Perhaps these effects were transmitted to the study, and students, already burned out from too many hours on Zoom for school, were not as engaged with the peer avatars and problem solving tasks as they normally would have been. This might also partly explain the lack of difference in participant task anxiety and final Raven's score between the social comparison conditions. Alternatively, the lack

of significant interactions also may have been affected by the study sample size and limited power.

Despite the unexpected lack of interaction effects, the significant main effect of peer growth mindset on identification with peers suggests that peer growth mindset may indeed affect the outcomes of social comparison. Perhaps growth mindset and social comparison processes operate independently, or jointly but not interactively, such that students' learning outcomes are shaped by peer growth mindset and social comparison both separately and as a cascading process. For example, in a classroom where endorsing a growth mindset is the norm, peer growth mindset can help a student cultivate positive perceptions of and identification with their high performing peers, regardless of whether social comparison is present. In turn, increased identification with peers may buffer the adverse consequences of subsequent social comparison experiences, such as when the student does not perform as well as expected on an exam. As such, an alternative model involving mediated pathways, as opposed to moderation, may better represent this process.

Mechanisms of Peer Growth Mindset on Learning-Related Outcomes

Findings indicated that both perceptions of peers' competence and identification with peers in part explained the relationship between peer growth mindset and participant motivational and learning outcomes. The finding that perceptions of peers' competence explained the relationship between peer growth mindset and task value supports prior research that demonstrated this relationship in undergraduate students (Sheffler & Cheung, 2020). Notably, this previous study was conducted in person with live

confederate "peers" instead of remotely using avatars. The present study demonstrates the remarkable versatility of peer growth mindset and its ability to permeate students' learning motivation through their peers both in real world situations as well as virtual environments. Furthermore, the presence of other outcome variables mediated by perceptions of peers' competence, including perceptions of self-competence and self-regulated learning, provides evidence that the peer growth mindset effects may be especially influential in adolescents compared to undergraduate students, even when delivered remotely.

Identification with higher performing peers was also a significant mediator in the relationship between peer growth mindset and learning outcomes, a variable which was not examined in the Sheffler & Cheung (2020) study. The present findings suggest that identification with peers may be a stronger mechanism of peer growth mindset effects on learning outcomes, given that the mediation effects of perceptions of peers' competence were weakened when both mediators were included in model. This finding strengthens the notion of identification as an adaptive strategy when students are faced with an upward comparison scenario (Buunk et al., 2005). The results also contribute to the social comparison literature by shedding light on a new method for fostering this adaptive strategy: growth mindset peers. Encouraging students to talk about the malleability of intelligence with their peers in the classroom may help to cultivate more identification with better performing others, so that students react optimally when faced with peers or friends who outperform them. This tactic could be incorporated in school curriculum, before feedback on assessments is given. The present findings also support the argument

that peer growth mindset affects students' learning outcomes indirectly, rather than through direct mindset to mindset transmission. This aligns with past literature on the effects of other social agents' mindsets on children's growth mindset endorsement, such as parents, who may indirectly affect their children's mindsets through their associated parenting practices (Jose & Bellamy, 2012; Moorman & Pomerantz, 2010). Further investigation of the resulting beliefs students have about their growth mindset peers, as well as potential behaviors students' peers practice, and how these beliefs and behaviors may affect students' mindset endorsement, is warranted.

Limitations and Future Directions

Several limitations must be considered in the interpretation of this study's results. These include the remote and virtual modality of the study, the nature of peer influence, the single session timepoint of the study design, and the materials of assessment. First, as implicated in the study description, the present study was conducted remotely using a virtual peer environment with avatars and recorded statements. Participants did not have the opportunity to interact with live peers, but instead read and listened to their peers' statements passively, without the ability to exchange dialogue or ask questions. As such, results may not be generalizable to real-world peer environments, such as a middle school classroom, in which participants engage in face-to-face dialogue, exchange thoughts and beliefs, and build rapport with their peers. On the other hand, due to changes in learning environments as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic (i.e., increased adoption of online learning, Lockee, 2021), this online paradigm may represent a good proxy for students' interactions in such non-traditional classrooms. For traditional, physical classroom

environments, future research could employ confederate "peers" using child actors, which would better mimic a real-life peer environment and allow mutual dialogue between participants and their peers. Alternatively, naturalistic observation could be utilized to capture genuine peer interactions in the classroom, either in person or remotely (e.g., on Zoom). Trained observers could then code peer statements for growth and fixed mindset themes and code subsequent learning-related behaviors. This design also would allow the study to be expanded beyond a single session timepoint, an additional limitation of this study. Observing adolescents longitudinally in the physical classroom could help shed light on how growth mindset is communicated in adolescents' actual peer environments.

Regarding the nature of peer influence, adolescents ages 12-14 were selected for this study because that is the age at which peer influence is most potent (Berndt, 1979; Brown et al., 2008; De Goede et al., 2009). As discussed, peers represent same-age individuals, who are not necessarily friends, but more acquaintances (Sallee & Tierney, 2007). Although peers have a substantial impact on students' school motivation and achievement (Rodkin & Ryan, 2012; Wentzel & Caldwell, 1997), other research indicates that adolescents' friends may be more influential to their learning outcomes compared to their peer groups (Brown et al., 2008). The design of this study did not permit the investigation of friendship influences, as participants did not know their purported "peers." Future research could modify the design to include friendship dyads or small groups, and perhaps manipulate the types of statements participants hear from their friends to include growth mindset statements. In this way, the peer growth mindset

effects demonstrated in the present study could be compared to friendship effects to assess whether they are indeed stronger.

This study assessed adolescents' learning-related behaviors using several selfreport measures and an objective behavioral measure of mastery behaviors using the PERC task. As many of the outcome variables were self-reported, they may not have captured participants' true behaviors due to bias in responses (e.g., social desirability). Furthermore, the Raven's Progressive Matrices problem-solving tasks used in the study as the basis for the learning-related outcomes may not have reflected the types of realworld learning activities adolescents typically pursue. These measures were chosen due to their novelty and application in the PERC task, and because Raven's tests are considered relatively "culture-free" assessments that would not be affected by participants' prior knowledge (Raven, 2000). Had more real-world learning assessments been included, the effects may have been strengthened.

Theoretical and Practical Significance

This study is notable for its conceptual contribution to the growth mindset literature. Although there is ample literature and much intervention research documenting the role of growth mindset in adolescents' academic motivation and achievement, limited research has focused exclusively on growth mindset influence in adolescent peer interactions. Given the substantial role peers play in adolescents' academic lives and identity development (Harter 1990; Yazedjian et al., 2007), further investigation into peer mindset effects helps shed light on how implicit theories of intelligence are socialized in adolescents and the effects their social agent peers have on their learning outcomes. This

knowledge could help inform the design and implementation of future growth mindset interventions aimed at decreasing the academic achievement gap by boosting student motivation and learning outcomes. Furthermore, no studies to date have examined peer growth mindset effects and social comparison concurrently. Although no interaction effects were found, the finding that peer growth mindset may help foster upward comparison identification in adolescents helps increase our understanding of the function of growth mindset in the classroom context, where comparison and evaluation experiences occur frequently. In addition to informing mindset interventions, this knowledge may promote new methods of motivating students struggling with issues of academic self-concept and evaluative anxiety.

Methodological Innovations

This dissertation is also notable for its methodological innovation. The study utilized an entirely novel online experimental paradigm in which artificial peer groups were manipulated using avatars as visual representations. Participants heard and read statements from their "peers" and also received feedback about their and their peers' performance via a virtual leaderboard. In this way, researchers could remotely simulate the types of peer interactions and social comparison experiences students may encounter in the classroom or in other activities with peers. This paradigm represents a unique method of studying peer and social comparison effects without the use of study confederates, imagined scenarios, or other adolescent participants, and can be delivered completely online. Additionally, due to its online format, ease of administration, and cost-effectiveness, this methodology allows access to study participants who may be

traditionally difficult to contact, such as those at great geographic distances or those enrolled in alternatively structured middle school education programs. This could potentially aid this study and future research in gathering participants beyond WEIRD samples (Henrich et al., 2010) in order to increase the representativeness and generalizability of findings related to this research topic.

Conclusion

This dissertation examined the effects of peer growth mindset and social comparison on adolescents' learning-related outcomes. The study utilized a novel, remote design to create a virtual peer environment, which is notable for its innovation and accessibility. Results support past literature demonstrating the impact of social agents' growth mindset beliefs on children's achievement outcomes, making the case that, like parents and teachers, peers deserve a place at the table when designing growth mindset interventions. The present study did not find any interactive effects of peer growth mindset and social comparison on adolescents' learning outcomes, but the overarching effects of peer growth mindset on learning-related outcomes and on adolescents' identification with higher-performing peers underscore peers as a valuable resource in helping to boost students' motivation, given the negative consequences of social comparison on their academic self-perceptions. Incorporating peers into growth mindset interventions may be especially critical during the middle school years when there is a substantial decline in school motivation, and may help improve adolescents' academic experiences so that they feel inspired, rather than threatened, when they "dare to compare."

References

- Abrams, D. E., & Hogg, M. A. (1990). Social identity theory: Constructive and critical advances. Springer-Verlag Publishing.
- Aditomo, A. (2015). Students' response to academic setback: 'Growth mindset' as a buffer against demotivation. *International Journal of Educational Psychology*, 4(2), 198–222. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.17583/ijep.2015.1482</u>
- Altermatt, E. R., & Pomerantz, E. M. (2003). The development of competence-related and motivational beliefs: An investigation of similarity and influence among friends. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 95(1), 111–123. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.95.1.111</u>
- Altermatt, E. R., & Pomerantz, E. M. (2005). The implications of having high-achieving versus low-achieving friends: A longitudinal analysis. *Social Development*, 14(1), 61–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9507.2005.00291.x</u>
- Aronson, J., Fried, C. B., & Good, C. (2002). Reducing the effects of stereotype threat on African American college students by shaping theories of intelligence. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 38(2), 113–125. https://doi.org/10.1006/jesp.2001.1491
- Ashwin, P. (2003). Peer support: Relations between the context, process and outcomes for the students who are supported. *Instructional Science*, *31*(3), 159–173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1023227532029</u>
- Aspinwall, L. G., & Taylor, S. E. (1993). Effects of social comparison direction, threat, and self-esteem on affect, self-evaluation, and expected success. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 64(5), 708–722. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.64.5.708</u>
- Bandura, A. (1986). The explanatory and predictive scope of self-efficacy theory. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 4(3), 359–373. <u>https://doi.org/10.1521/jscp.1986.4.3.359</u>
- Barber, B. K., & Olsen, J. A. (2004). Assessing the transitions to middle and high school. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, *19*(1), 3–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0743558403258113</u>
- Berndt, T. J. (1979). Developmental changes in conformity to peers and parents. *Developmental Psychology*, *15*(6), 608–616. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0012-1649.15.6.608</u>

- Berndt, T. J., Hawkins, J. A., & Jiao, Z. (1999). Influences of friends and friendships on adjustment to junior high school. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly* 45(1), 13–41. http://www.jstor.org/stable/23093308
- Blackwell, L. S., Trzesniewski, K. H., & Dweck, C. S. (2007). Implicit theories of intelligence predict achievement across an adolescent transition: A longitudinal study and an intervention. *Child Development*, 78(1), 246–263. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.00995.x</u>
- Blanton H., Buunk B.P., Gibbons F.X., & Kuyper H. (1999). When better-than-others compare upward: Choice of comparison and comparative evaluation as independent predictors of academic performance. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 76(3), 420–430. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.76.3.420</u>
- Boissicat, N., Pansu, P., Bouffard, T., & Cottin, F. (2012). Relation between perceived scholastic competence and social comparison mechanisms among elementary school children. *Social Psychology of Education*, 15(4), 603–614. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-012-9189-z
- Bossong, B. (1985). Schulische Belastung und sozialer Vergleich [School related stress and social comparison]. *Gruppendynamik*, *16*(3), 295–305.
- Bostwick, K. C., Collie, R. J., Martin, A. J., & Durksen, T. L. (2017). Students' growth mindsets, goals, and academic outcomes in mathematics. *Zeitschrift für Psychologie*, 225(2), 107–116. <u>https://doi.org/10.1027/2151-2604/a000287</u>.
- Brown, B. B., Bakken, J. P., Ameringer, S. W., & Mahon, S. D. (2008). A comprehensive conceptualization of the peer influence process in adolescence. In M. J. Prinstein & K. A. Dodge (Eds.), *Understanding peer influence in children and adolescents* (pp. 17–44). The Guilford Press.
- Brown, B. B., & Larson, J. (2009). Peer relationships in adolescence. In R. M. Lerner & L. Steinberg (Eds.), *Handbook of adolescent psychology: Contextual influences* on adolescent development (pp. 74–103). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470479193.adlpsy002004</u>
- Bukowski, W. M., Castellanos, M., Vitaro, F., & Brendgen, M. (2015). Socialization and experiences with peers. In J. E. Grusec & P. D. Hastings (Eds.), *Handbook of socialization: Theory and research* (pp. 228–250). The Guilford Press.
- Butler, R. (1989). Mastery versus ability appraisal: A developmental study of children's observations of peers' work. *Child Development*, 60(6), 1350–1361. https://doi.org/10.2307/1130926

- Buunk, B. P., Kuyper, H., & van der Zee, Y. G. (2005). Affective response to social comparison in the classroom. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 27(3), 229– 237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15324834basp2703_4</u>
- Carmona, C., Buunk, A. P., Dijkstra, A., & Peiró, J. M. (2008). The relationship between goal orientation, social comparison responses, self-efficacy, and performance. *European Psychologist*, 13(3), 188–196. <u>https://doi.org/10.1027/1016-9040.13.3.188</u>
- Carter, D. F. (2006). Key issues in the persistence of underrepresented minority students. *New Directions for Institutional Research*, 130, 33–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ir.178</u>
- Chayer, M. H., & Bouffard, T. (2010). Relations between impostor feelings and upward and downward identification and contrast among 10-to 12-year-old students. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, 25(1), 125–140. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10212-009-0004-y
- Chiu, T. K. (2022). Applying the self-determination theory (SDT) to explain student engagement in online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 54(sup1), S14–S30. https://doi.org/10.1080/15391523.2021.1891998
- Cho, E., Toste, J.R., Lee, M. (2019). Motivational predictors of struggling readers' reading comprehension: the effects of mindset, achievement goals, and engagement. *Reading and Writing*, 32, 1219–1242. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-018-9908-8</u>
- Chouinard, R., Karsenti, T., & Roy, N. (2007). Relations among competence beliefs, utility value, achievement goals, and effort in mathematics. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 77(3), 501–517. <u>https://doi.org/10.1348/000709906X133589</u>
- Christy, K. R., & Fox, J. (2014). Leaderboards in a virtual classroom: A test of stereotype threat and social comparison explanations for women's math performance. *Computers & Education*, 78, 66–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2014.05.005
- Claro, S., Paunesku, D., & Dweck, C. S. (2016). Growth mindset tempers the effects of poverty on academic achievement. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 113(31), 8664–8668. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1608207113</u>
- Cohen, G. L., & Prinstein, M. J. (2006). Peer contagion of aggression and health risk behavior among adolescent males: An experimental investigation of effects on

public conduct and private attitudes. *Child Development*, 77(4), 967–983. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2006.00913.x

- Covington, M. V. (2000). Goal theory, motivation, and school achievement: An integrative review. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *51*(1), 171–200. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.51.1.171</u>
- DeBacker, T. K., Heddy, B. C., Kershen, J. L., Crowson, H. M., Looney, K., & Goldman, J. A. (2018). Effects of a one-shot growth mindset intervention on beliefs about intelligence and achievement goals. *Educational Psychology*, 38(6), 711–733. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410.2018.1426833</u>
- De Goede, I. H., Branje, S. J., Delsing, M. J., & Meeus, W. H. (2009). Linkages over time between adolescents' relationships with parents and friends. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 38(10), 1304–1315. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-009-9403-2</u>
- Dijkstra, P., Kuyper, H., Van der Werf, G., Buunk, A. P., & van der Zee, Y. G. (2008). Social comparison in the classroom: A review. *Review of Educational Research*, 78(4), 828-879. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654308321210</u>
- Dobbie, W., & Fryer Jr, R. G. (2014). The impact of attending a school with highachieving peers: Evidence from the New York City exam schools. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 6(3), 58–75. https://doi.org/10.1257/app.6.3.58
- Donohoe, C., Topping, K., & Hannah, E. (2012). The impact of an online intervention (Brainology) on the mindset and resiliency of secondary school pupils: A preliminary mixed methods study. *Educational Psychology*, *32*(5), 641–655. https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410.2012.675646
- Dowson, M., & McInerney, D. M. (2004). The development and validation of the goal orientation and learning strategies survey (Goals-S). *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 64(2), 290–310. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164403251335
- Dumas, F., Huguet, P., Monteil, J. M., Rastoul, C., & Nezlek, J. B. (2005). Social comparison in the classroom: Is there a tendency to compare upward in elementary school. *Current Research in Social Psychology*, *10*(12), 166–187.
- Dweck, C. S. (2000). Self-theories: Their role in motivation, personality, and development. Psychology Press.
- Dweck, C. S., & Leggett, E. L. (1988). A social-cognitive approach to motivation and personality. *Psychological Review*, 95(2), 256–273. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.95.2.256</u>
- Eccles, J. S., & Midgley, C. (1989). Stage-environment fit: Developmentally appropriate classrooms for young adolescents. *Research on Motivation in Education*, 3(1), 139–186.
- Eccles, J. S., Midgley, C., Wigfield, A., Buchanan, C. M., Reuman, D., Flanagan, C., & Iver, D. M. (1993). Development during adolescence. The impact of stageenvironment fit on young adolescents' experiences in schools and in families. *American Psychologist*, 48(2), 90–101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.48.2.90</u>
- Elliot, A., & Harackiewicz, J. (1996). Approach and avoidance achievement goals and intrinsic motivation: A mediational analysis. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 70(3), 461–475. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.70.3.461</u>
- Erdoğan, A., Kesici, Ş., & Şahin, İ. (2011). Prediction of high school students' mathematics anxiety by their achievement motivation and social comparison. *İlköğretim Online*, 10(2), 646–652.
- Fabert, N. S. (2014). Growth Mindset Training to Increase Women's Self-Efficacy in Science and Engineering: A Randomized-Controlled Trial. Arizona State University.
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39, 175–191. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193146</u>
- Feldlaufer, H., Midgley, C., & Eccles, J. S. (1988). Student, teacher, and observer perceptions of the classroom environment before and after the transition to junior high school. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 8(2), 133–156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0272431688082003</u>
- Festinger, L. (1954). A theory of social comparison processes. *Human Relations*, 7(2), 117–140.
- Gallardo, L. O., Barrasa, A., & Guevara-Viejo, F. (2016). Positive peer relationships and academic achievement across early and midadolescence. *Social Behavior and Personality: An international journal*, 44(10), 1637–1648. <u>https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.2016.44.10.1637</u>

- Gibbons, F. X., & Buunk, B. P. (1999). Individual differences in social comparison: Development of a scale of social comparison orientation. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 76(1), 129–142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-</u> 3514.76.1.129
- Good, C., Rattan, A., & Dweck, C. S. (2012). Why do women opt out? Sense of belonging and women's representation in mathematics. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *102*(4), 700–717. <u>700. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0026659</u>
- Gremmen, M. C., Van den Berg, Y. H., Steglich, C., Veenstra, R., & Dijkstra, J. K. (2018). The importance of near-seated peers for elementary students' academic engagement and achievement. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 57, 42–52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2018.04.004</u>
- Gunderson, E. A., Gripshover, S. J., Romero, C., Dweck, C. S., Goldin-Meadow, S., & Levine, S. C. (2013). Parent praise to 1- to 3-year-olds predicts children's motivational frameworks 5 years later. *Child Development*, 84(5), 1526–1541. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12064
- Harackiewicz, J. M., Barron, K. E., & Elliot, A. J. (1998). Rethinking achievement goals: When are they adaptive for college students and why?. *Educational Psychologist*, 33(1), 1–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15326985ep3301_1</u>
- Harackiewicz, J. M., Barron, K. E., Pintrich, P. R., Elliot, A. J., & Thrash, T. M. (2002). Revision of achievement goal theory: Necessary and illuminating. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 94(3), 638–645. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.94.3.638</u>
- Harter, S. (1981). A new self-report scale of intrinsic versus extrinsic orientation in the classroom: Motivational and informational components. *Developmental Psychology*, *17*(3), 300–312. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.17.3.300</u>
- Harter, S. (1990). Processes underlying adolescent self-concept formation. In R. Montemayor, G. R. Adams, & T. P. Gullotta (Eds.), Advances in adolescent development: An annual book series, Vol. 2. From childhood to adolescence: A transitional period? (pp. 205–239). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Hartup, W. W. (1989). Social relationships and their developmental significance. *American Psychologist*, 44(2), 120–126. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.44.2.120</u>
- Harvey, A. J., & Keyes, H. (2019). How do I compare thee? An evidence-based approach to the presentation of class comparison information to students using Dashboard.

Innovations in Education and Teaching International, 57(2) 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1080/14703297.2019.1593213

- Helms, S. W., Choukas-Bradley, S., Widman, L., Giletta, M., Cohen, G. L., & Prinstein, M. J. (2014). Adolescents misperceive and are influenced by high-status peers' health risk, deviant, and adaptive behavior. *Developmental Psychology*, 50(12), 2697–2714. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0038178</u>
- Henrich, J., Heine, S. J., & Norenzayan, A. (2010). The weirdest people in the world?. Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 33(2-3), 61–83. http://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X0999152X
- Hokoda, A. J., Fincham, F. D., & Diener, C. I. (1989). The effect of social comparison information on learned helpless and mastery-oriented children in achievement settings. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 19(6), 527–542. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.2420190604</u>
- Huguet, P., Dumas, F., Monteil, J. M., & Genestoux, N. (2001). Social comparison choices in the classroom: Further evidence for students' upward comparison tendency and its beneficial impact on performance. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 31(5), 557–578. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.81</u>
- Jackson, C. K. (2013). Can higher-achieving peers explain the benefits to attending selective schools? Evidence from Trinidad and Tobago. *Journal of Public Economics*, 108, 63–77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2013.09.007</u>
- Jonsson, J. O., & Mood, C. (2008). Choice by contrast in Swedish schools: How peers' achievement affects educational choice. *Social Forces*, 87(2), 741–765. https://doi.org/10.1353/sof.0.0135
- Jose, P.E., & Bellamy, M. A. (2012). Relationships of parents' theories of intelligence with children's persistence/learned helplessness: A cross-cultural comparison. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology* 43(6), 999–1018. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022022111421633
- Kamarova, S., Chatzisarantis, N. L., Hagger, M. S., Lintunen, T., Hassandra, M., & Papaioannou, A. (2017). Effects of achievement goals on perceptions of competence in conditions of unfavourable social comparisons: The mastery goal advantage effect. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 87(4), 630–646. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12168</u>
- Kang, S., Chung, W., Mora, A. R., & Chung, Y. (2013). Facebook comparisons among adolescents: how do identification and contrast relate to wellbeing. *Asian Journal* of Information and Communications, 5(2), 1–21.

- Kindermann, T. A. (2007). Effects of naturally existing peer groups on changes in academic engagement in a cohort of sixth graders. *Child Development*, 78(4), 1186–1203. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.01060.x</u>
- King, R. B. (2020). Mindsets are contagious: The social contagion of implicit theories of intelligence among classmates. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 90(2), 349–363. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12285</u>
- Laninga-Wijnen, L., Ryan, A. M., Harakeh, Z., Shin, H., & Vollebergh, W. A. (2018). The moderating role of popular peers' achievement goals in 5th-and 6th-graders' achievement-related friendships: A social network analysis. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 110(2), 289–307. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/edu0000210</u>
- Larson, R., & Richards, M. H. (1991). Daily companionship in late childhood and early adolescence: Changing developmental contexts. *Child Development*, 62(2), 284– 300. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1991.tb01531.x</u>
- Lee, W., & Kim, S. I. (2014). Effects of achievement goals on challenge seeking and feedback processing: Behavioral and fMRI evidence. *PloS One*, 9(9), <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0107254</u>
- Little, R. J. A. (1988). A test of missing completely at random for multivariate data with missing values. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, *83*, 1198–1202. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01621459.1988.10478722
- Lockee, B. B. (2021). Online education in the post-COVID era. *Nature Electronics*, 4(1), 5–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41928-020-00534-0</u>
- Lynch, M., & Cicchetti, D. (1997). Children's relationships with adults and peers: An examination of elementary and junior high school students. *Journal of School Psychology*, *35*(1), 81–99. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-4405(96)00031-3</u>
- Lyons, M. (1971). Techniques for using ordinal measures in regression and path analysis. *Sociological Methodology*, *3*, 147–171. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/270821</u>
- Martin, A. J., Nejad, H. G., Colmar, S., & Liem, G. A. D. (2013). Adaptability: How students' responses to uncertainty and novelty predict their academic and nonacademic outcomes. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 105(3), 728–746. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0032794</u>
- McPherson, M., Smith-Lovin, L., & Cook, J. M. (2001). Birds of a feather: Homophily in social networks. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 27(1), 415–444. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.27.1.415</u>

- McVicar, D., Moschion, J., & Ryan, C. (2016). Achievement effects from new peers: Who matters to whom? Unpublished manuscript.
- Menanix, S. E. (2015). Teaching for a growth mindset: How contexts and professional identity shift decision-making (Doctoral dissertation). University of California, Berkeley.
- Micari, M., & Pazos, P. (2014). Worrying about what others think: A social-comparison concern intervention in small learning groups. *Active Learning in Higher Education*, 15(3), 249–262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1469787414544874</u>
- Moorman, E. A., & Pomerantz, E. M. (2010). Ability mindsets influence the quality of mothers' involvement in children's learning: An experimental investigation. *Developmental Psychology*, 46(5), 1354–1362. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020376</u>
- Mueller, C. M., & Dweck, C. S. (1998). Praise for intelligence can undermine children's motivation and performance. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 75(1), 33–52. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.75.1.33</u>
- Muthén, L.K. & Muthén, B.O. (1998-2017). *Mplus user's guide: Eighth edition.* Muthén & Muthén.
- Nicholls, J. G. (1978). The development of the concepts of effort and ability, perception of academic attainment, and the understanding that difficult tasks require more ability. *Child Development*, 49(3), 800–814. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1128250</u>
- Nussbaum, A. D., & Dweck, C. S. (2008). Defensiveness versus remediation: Selftheories and modes of self-esteem maintenance. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 34(5), 599–612. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167207312960</u>
- Paunesku, D., Walton, G. M., Romero, C., Smith, E. N., Yeager, D. S., & Dweck, C. S. (2015). Mind-set interventions are a scalable treatment for academic underachievement. *Psychological Science*, 26(6), 784–793. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797615571017</u>
- Payne, S. C., Youngcourt, S. S., & Beaubien, J. M. (2007). A meta-analytic examination of the goal orientation nomological net. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(1), 128–150. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.92.1.128</u>
- Pomerantz, E. M., Ruble, D. N., Frey, K. S., & Greulich, F. (1995). Meeting goals and confronting conflict: Children's changing perceptions of social comparison. *Child Development*, 66(3), 723–738. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-</u> <u>8624.1995.tb00901.x</u>

- Pomerantz, E. M., Saxon, J. L., & Oishi, S. (2000). The psychological trade-offs of goal investment. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 79(4), 617–630. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.79.4.617
- Poortvliet, P. M., Janssen, O., Van Yperen, N. W., & Van de Vliert, E. (2009). The joint impact of achievement goals and performance feedback on information giving. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 31(3), 197–209. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01973530903058276</u>
- Porter, T., Molina, D. C., Blackwell, L., Roberts, S., Quirk, A., Duckworth, A. L., & Trzesniewski, K. (2020). Measuring mastery behaviors at scale: The persistence, effort, resilience, and challenge-seeking (PERC) task. *Journal of Learning Analytics*, 7(1), 5–18. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.18608/jla.2020.71.2</u>
- Prentice, D. A., & Miller, D. T. (1996). Pluralistic ignorance and the perpetuation of social norms by unwitting actors. *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, 28, 161–209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2601(08)60238-5</u>
- Pulford, B. D., Woodward, B., & Taylor, E. (2018). Do social comparisons in academic settings relate to gender and academic self-confidence?. *Social Psychology of Education*, 21(3), 677–690. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-018-9434-1</u>
- Raat, A. N., Kuks, J. B., van Hell, E. A., & Cohen-Schotanus, J. (2013). Peer influence on students' estimates of performance: social comparison in clinical rotations. *Medical Education*, 47(2), 190–197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.12066</u>
- Raven, J. (2000). The Raven's progressive matrices: change and stability over culture and time. *Cognitive Psychology*, *41*(1), 1–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/cogp.1999.0735</u>
- Raven, J. C., Court, J. H., & Raven, J. (1977). Manual for raven's progressive matrices and vocabulary scales. London: H. K. Lewis.
- Rodkin, P., & Ryan, A. M. (2012). Child and adolescent peer relations in an educational context. In K. Harris, S. Graham, & T. Urdan, *Educational psychology handbook* (pp. 363–389). <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/13274-015</u>
- Rubin, K. H., Bukowski, W. M., & Parker, J. G. (2007). Peer interactions, relationships, and groups. In R. M. Lerner & L. Steinberg (Eds.), *Handbook of child psychology* (pp. 571–631). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470147658.chpsy0310</u>

- Ruble, D. N., Feldman, N. S., & Boggiano, A. K. (1976). Social comparison between young children in achievement situations. *Developmental Psychology*, 12(3), 192–197. <u>https://doi10.1037/0012-1649.12.3.192</u>
- Ryan, A. M. (2000). Peer groups as a context for the socialization of adolescents' motivation, engagement, and achievement in school. *Educational Psychologist*, 35(2), 101–111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/S15326985EP3502_4</u>
- Sallee, M. W., & Tierney, W. G. (2007). The influence of peer groups on academic success. *College and University*, 82(2), 7–9.
- Scheffer, J. (2002), Dealing with missing data. *Research Letters in the Information and Mathematical Sciences*, *3*, 153–160.
- Schneider, S. M., & Schupp, J. (2014). Individual differences in social comparison and its consequences for life satisfaction: introducing a short scale of the Iowa– Netherlands Comparison Orientation Measure. *Social Indicators Research*, 115(2), 767–789. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-012-0227-1</u>
- Schunk, D. H., & Pajares, F. (2005). Competence perceptions and academic functioning. In A.J. Elliot & C.S. Dweck (Eds.) *Handbook of competence and motivation*, (pp. 85–104). Guilford Press.
- Seaton, F. S. (2018). Empowering teachers to implement a growth mindset. *Educational Psychology in Practice*, *34*(1), 41–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02667363.2017.1382333</u>
- Sheffler, P. C., & Cheung, C. S. (2020). The role of peer mindsets in students' learning: An experimental study. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 90(S1), 17– 34. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12299
- Shrout, P. E., & Bolger, N. (2002). Mediation in experimental and nonexperimental studies: new procedures and recommendations. *Psychological Methods*, 7(4), 422–445. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/1082-989X.7.4.422</u>
- Sinclair, S., Hardin, C. D., & Lowery, B. S. (2006). Self-stereotyping in the context of multiple social identities. *Journal of Personality and Social psychology*, 90(4), 529–542. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.90.4.529
- Sisk, V. F., Burgoyne, A. P., Sun, J., Butler, J. L., & Macnamara, B. N. (2018). To what extent and under which circumstances are growth mind-sets important to academic achievement? Two meta-analyses. *Psychological Science*, 29(4), 549– 571. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797617739704</u>

- Skipper, Y., & Douglas, K. (2012). Is no praise good praise? Effects of positive feedback on children's and university students' responses to subsequent failures. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 82(2), 327–339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8279.2011.02028.x</u>
- Spielberger, C. D. (2010). Test anxiety inventory. *The Corsini Encyclopedia of Psychology*, 1–1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470479216.corpsy0985</u>
- Steinbeis, N., & Singer, T. (2013). The effects of social comparison on social emotions and behavior during childhood: The ontogeny of envy and Schadenfreude predicts developmental changes in equity-related decisions. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 115(1), 198–209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2012.11.009</u>
- Suls, J., & Wheeler, L. (2000). A selective history of classic and neo-social comparison theory. In J. Suls & L. Wheeler (Eds.) *Handbook of social comparison* (pp. 3–19). Springer, Boston, MA. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-4237-7_1</u>
- Sun, K. L. (2015). *There's no limit: Mathematics teaching for a growth mindset* (Doctoral dissertation). Stanford University, Stanford, CA.
- Taylor, J., & Deane, F. P. (2002). Development of a short form of the Test Anxiety Inventory (TAI). *The Journal of General Psychology*, *129*(2), 127–136. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00221300209603133</u>
- Trautwein, U., Lüdtke, O., Marsh, H. W., & Nagy, G. (2009). Within-school social comparison: How students perceive the standing of their class predicts academic self-concept. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 101(4), 853–866. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0016306</u>
- Van der Zee, K., Buunk, B., Sanderman, R., Botke, G., & Van den Bergh, F. (2000). Social comparison and coping with cancer treatment. *Personality and Individual differences*, 28(1), 17–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(99)00045-8</u>
- Véronneau, M.-H., & Dishion, T. J. (2011). Middle school friendships and academic achievement in early adolescence: A longitudinal analysis. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 31(1), 99–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0272431610384485</u>
- Wehrens, M. J., Kuyper, H., Dijkstra, P., Buunk, A. P., & van der Werf, M. P. (2010). The long-term effect of social comparison on academic performance. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 40(7), 1158–1171. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.706</u>
- Wentzel, K. R., Barry, C. M., & Caldwell, K. A. (2004). Friendships in middle school: Influences on motivation and school adjustment. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 96(2), 195–203. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.96.2.195</u>

- Wentzel, K. R., & Caldwell, K. (1997). Friendships, peer acceptance, and group membership: Relations to academic achievement in middle school. *Child Development*, 68(6), 1198–1209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-</u> 8624.1997.tb01994.x
- Wigfield, A., Eccles, J. S., Mac Iver, D., Reuman, D. A., & Midgley, C. (1991). Transitions during early adolescence: Changes in children's domain-specific selfperceptions and general self-esteem across the transition to junior high school. *Developmental Psychology*, 27(4), 552–565. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.27.4.552</u>
- Wu, J., & Hughes, J. N. (2015). Teacher network of relationships inventory: Measurement invariance across ages 6 to 15. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 30(1), 23–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000063</u>
- Yazedjian, A., Purswell, K., Sevin, T., & Toews, M. (2007). Adjusting to the first year of college: Students' perceptions of the importance of parental, peer, and institutional support. *Journal of the First-Year Experience & Students in Transition*, 19(2), 29-46.
- Yeager, D. S., & Dweck, C. S. (2020). What can be learned from growth mindset controversies? *American Psychologist*, 75(9), 1269–1284. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000794</u>
- Yeager, D. S., Hanselman, P., Walton, G. M., Murray, J. S., Crosnoe, R., Muller, C., Tipton, E., Schneider, B., Hulleman, C.S., Hinojosa, C.P., Paunesku, D., Romero, C., Flint, K., Roberts, A., Trott, J., Iachan, R., Buontempo, J., Man Yang, S., Carvalho, C.M., ... Dweck, C.S. (2019). A national experiment reveals where a growth mindset improves achievement. *Nature*, *573*(7774), 364–369. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1466-y</u>
- Yettick, H., Lloyd, S., Harwin, A., Riemer, A., & Swanson, C. B. (2016). Mindset in the Classroom: A national study of K–12 teachers. *Editorial Projects in Education*.
- Zanobini, M., & Usai, M. C. (2002). Domain-specific self-concept and achievement motivation in the transition from primary to low middle school. *Educational Psychology*, 22(2), 203–217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410120115265</u>
- Zimmerman, D. J. (2003). Peer effects in academic outcomes: Evidence from a natural experiment. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 85(1), 9–23. https://doi.org/10.1162/003465303762687677

Appendices

Appendix A

Questionnaires by Survey

Survey 1	Perceptions of academic self-competence
	Achievement goal orientation
	General social comparison
	Implicit theories of intelligence
	General demographics
Brief Survey	Competence perceptions
Manipulation Check	Social comparison comprehension
Survey 2	Social comparison contrast and identification
	Implicit theories of intelligence
	Task specific achievement goal orientation
	Perceptions of competence in the task for self and peers
	Task anxiety
	Task value
	Task effort
	Preference for challenge
	Self-regulated learning

Appendix B

Study Procedure Flowchart



Appendix C

Example Avatar Creation



Appendix D

Peer Mindset Manipulation – Growth Mindset Condition



Click the play button on each avatar to hear their thoughts about the task. Do not advance to the next screen until you have heard each person's thoughts.

 \rightarrow

Appendix E

Peer Mindset Manipulation – Control Condition



Click the play button on each avatar to hear their thoughts about the task. Do not advance to the next screen until you have heard each person's thoughts.

 \rightarrow

Appendix F

Social Comparison Manipulation

Leaderboard							
Rank	Partici	pant	Score				
1		Morgan	98				
2		Jose	96				
3		Emma	94				
4	8	Jacob	91				
5		You	89				
6		Ethan	74				
7		Sophia	72				
8		Mia	70				
9		Jayden	69				
10		Brooke	65				
11		Jorden	61				
12		Sam	60				
13		Matthew	59				
14		Aiden	55				
15		Emily	53				
16		Jackson	52				
17		Finn	49				
18		Maya	47				
19		Will	45				
20		Alex	43				

Neutral Comparison Condition

Leaderboard						
Rank	Particit	oant	Score			
1		Morgan	98			
2		Jose	96			
3		Emma	94			
4		Jacob	91			
5		Ethan	89			
6	(Re)	Sophia	74			
7		Mia	72			
8		Jayden	70			
9		Brooke	69			
10		Jordan	65			
11		Sam	61			
12		Matthew	60			
13		Aiden	59			
14		Emily	55			
15		Jackson	53			
16		Finn	52			
17		Maya	49			
18		You	47			
19		Will	45			
20		Alex	43			

Upward Comparison Condition

Appendix G

Survey 1

University of California, Riverside Virtual Learning Project



Survey Packet 1

Instructions: Please **read the brief instructions** for each set of questions carefully; pay attention to the labels above the circles as they often change from one set of questions to the next. Answer the questions as **quickly and accurately** as possible. Sometimes you will see some questions that are similar to ones you have already answered, but this is important to our research. Remember, your answers to the questions are completely **private**. We will not share them with anyone. However, if you would like to share them with someone, that is okay.

Please be sure to answer each question and let the researcher know when you are finished.

There are no right or wrong answers. We just want to know what you think.

Part 1: My Feelings about School For each, shade in the circle showing **how true you think it is**.

		Not at all good		Somewhat good		Very good
1.	How good are you at school?	0	0	0	0	0
		At the bottom		In the middle		At the top
2.	If you were to rank all of the students in your school from the worst to the best, where would you put yourself?	0	0	0	0	0
		Not at all important		Somewhat important		Very important
3.	How important is it to you to do well in school?	0	0	0	0	0
		Not at all important		Somewhat important		Very important
4.	How important is it to you to avoid doing poorly in school?	0	0	0	0	0
		Not at all		Somewhat		Very much
5.	How much do you <i>worry</i> over whether or not you will do well in school?	0	0	0	0	0
		Not at all important		Somewhat important		Very important
6.	How important is it to you that you learn a lot in school?	0	0	0	0	0
		Not at all		Somewhat		Very much

7.	How much do you like to do difficult work in school?	0	0	0	0	0
		None		Some		A lot
8.	How much effort do you put into your schoolwork?	0	0	0	0	0

Part 2: My Views About Myself To what extent do you agree with the following statements? For each, shade in the circle that corresponds with your response.

		Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
1.	I always pay a lot of attention to how I do things compared with how others do things.	0	0	0	0	0
2.	I often compare how I am doing socially (e.g., social skills, popularity) with other people.	0	0	0	0	0
3.	I am not the type of person who compares often with others.	0	0	0	0	0
4.	I often try to find out what others think who face similar problems as I face.	0	0	0	0	0
5.	I always like to know what others in a similar situation would do.	0	0	0	0	0
6.	If I want to learn more about something, I try to find out what others think about it.	0	0	0	0	0

Part 3: My Views about Intelligence To what extent do you agree with the following statements? For each, shade in the circle that corresponds with your response.

<u> </u>		Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
1.	Your intelligence is something very basic about you that you can't change very much.	0	0	0	0	0
2.	No matter how much intelligence you have, you can always change it quite a bit.	0	0	0	0	0
3. inte	You can always substantially change how elligent you are.	0	0	0	0	0
4. mu cha	You are a certain kind of person, and there is not ch that can be done to really ange that.	0	0	0	0	0
5. kin	You can always change basic things about the d of person you are.	0	0	0	0	0
6.	Music talent can be learned by anyone.	0	0	0	0	0
7. you	Only a few people will be truly good at sports – a have to be "born with it."	0	0	0	0	0
8. ma <u>val</u>	Math is much easier to learn if you are male or ybe come from a culture who ues math.	0	0	0	0	0
9. you	The harder you work at something, the better a will be at it.	0	0	0	0	0
10. alw	No matter what kind of person you are, you can /ays change substantially.	0	0	0	0	0
11. _avo	Trying new things is stressful for me and I bid it.	0	0	0	0	0
12. not <u>ch</u> a	Some people are good and kind, and some are - it's not often that people ange.	0	0	0	0	0
13.	I appreciate when parents, coaches, teachers	0	0	0	0	0

give me feedback about my performance.					
14. I often get angry when I get feedback about my	0	0	0	0	0
 15. All human beings without a brain injury or birth defect are capable of the same amount of learning. 	0	0	0	0	0
16. You can learn new things, but you can't really change how intelligent you are.	0	0	0	0	0
17. You can do things differently, but the important parts of who you are can't really be changed.	0	0	0	0	0
 Human beings are basically good, but sometimes make terrible decisions. 	0	0	0	0	0
19. An important reason why I do my school work is that I like to learn new things.	0	0	0	0	0
20. Truly smart people do not need to try hard.	0	0	0	0	0

Part 4: Demographics

Imagine this ladder pictures how the United States society is set up.

At the top of the ladder are the people who are best of f – they have the most money, the highest amount of schooling, and the jobs that bring the most respect.

At the bottom are people who are worst of f – they have the least money, little or no education, no job or jobs that no one wants or respects.

Now think about your family. Please tell us where you think your family would be on this ladder.

Shade in the circle that best represents where your family would be on this ladder.



Now assume that the ladder is a way of picturing your school.

At the top of the ladder are the people in your school with the most respect, the highest grades, and the highest standing.

At the bottom are the people who no one respects, no one wants to hang around with, and have the worst grades.

Now think about yourself. Please tell us where you think you would be on this ladder.

Shade in the circle that best represents where you would be on this ladder.



Compared to other students your age, will you be better or worse in the following subjects?

For each, shade in the circle that corresponds with your response.

	A lot worse than others	A little worse than others	The same as others	A little better than others	A lot better than others
1. Math	0	0	0	0	0
2. Science	0	0	0	0	0
3. Writing	0	0	0	0	0
4. Reading	0	0	0	0	0

Additional Information					
1. What is your gender?	0	Female			
	0	Male			
	0	Other (please specify):			
3. What is your age?	Age				
3. What is your year in school?	0	6 th grade			
	0	7 th grade			
	0	8 th grade			
	0	Other (please specify):			
4. Which of the following best describes	0	American Indian or Alaskan Native			
your ethnicity/race? (fill in as many as apply)	0	Asian or Pacific Islander			
	0	Black			
	0	Hispanic/Latinx			
	0	White			
	0	Other (please specify):			

Thank You!

Please let the researcher know when you are finished.

Appendix H

Brief Survey

For each, shade in the circle showing that corresponds with your response.

	A lot worse than others		The same as others		A lot better than others	l don't know
1. Compared to others, will <i>your</i> peers be better or worse at the problem-solving activity?	0	0	0	0	0	0
	A lot worse than others		The same as others		A lot better than others	l don't know
2. Compared to others, will <i>you</i> be better or worse at the problem- solving activity?	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Not at all well		Somewhat well		Very well	l don't know
3. How well do you think <i>your peers</i> performed on the problem-solving activity?	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Not at all well		Somewhat well		Very well	l don't know
 How well do you think you will perform on the problem-solving activity 	0	0	0	0	0	0

Appendix I

Manipulation Check

For each, shade in the circle showing that corresponds with your response.

		Not at all well		Somewhat well		Very well
1.	How well did <i>you</i> perform on the problem-solving activity?	0	0	0	0	0
		Not at all well		Somewhat well		Very well
2.	How well did your <i>peers</i> perform on the problem- solving activity?	0	0	0	0	0
		Worse than others		The same as others		Better than others
3.	Compared to all of the participants, how well did you perform on the problem-solving activity?	0	0	0	0	0
		Worse than my peers		The same as my peers		Better than my peers
4.	Compared to your peers, how well did you perform on the problem-solving activity?	Ο	0	0	0	0

Appendix J

Survey 2

University of California, Riverside Virtual Learning Project



Survey Packet 2

Instructions: Please **read the brief instructions** for each set of questions carefully; pay attention to the labels above the circles as they often change from one set of questions to the next. Answer the questions as **quickly and accurately** as possible. Sometimes you will see some questions that are similar to ones you have already answered, but this is important to our research. Remember, your answers to the questions are completely **private**. We will not share them with anyone. However, if you would like to share them with someone, that is okay.

Please be sure to answer each question and let the researcher know when you are finished.

There are no right or wrong answers. We just want to know what you think.

Part 1: My Views About the Task

Think about how you felt after receiving feedback on your and your peers' performance on the problem-solving task. To what extent do you agree with the following statements? For each, shade in the circle that corresponds with your response.

	•	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
1.	I realize that it is possible for my score to also improve.	0	0	0	0	0
2.	I have good hope that my performance on the problem- solving task will improve too.	0	0	0	0	0
3.	I am pleased that my performance can also get better.	0	0	0	0	0
4.	l feel frustrated about my own performance.	0	0	Ο	0	0
5.	It is threatening to notice that I am doing not so well on the problem- solving task.	0	0	0	0	0
6.	I feel depressed realizing that I am not doing well on the problem- solving task.	0	0	0	0	0
7.	I fear that my performance on the problem- solving task	0	0	0	0	0

	will go along the same way.					
8.	I fear that my future score will be similar.	0	0	0	0	0
9.	l experience fear for my own performance on the task to decline.	0	0	0	0	0
10.	I realize how well I am doing on the problem- solving task.	0	0	0	0	0
11.	I feel relieved about my own performance on the problem- solving task.	0	0	0	0	0
12.	I am happy that I am doing so well myself in the problem- solving task.	0	0	0	0	0

Part 2: My Thoughts about the Task To what extent do you agree with the following statements? For each, shade in the circle that corresponds with your response.

		Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
1.	Your skills needed for this problem-solving task can't be changed.	0	0	0	0	0
2.	There is a lot that can be done to change your ability for this task.	0	0	0	0	0
3.	Your ability in this task is something very basic about yourself that can't be changed.	0	0	0	0	0
4.	Through hard work, you can change your ability in this problem-solving task.	0	0	0	0	0

Part 3: My Views about Intelligence To what extent do you agree with the following statements? For each, shade in the circle that corresponds with your response.

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
 Your intelligence is something very basic about you that you can't change very much. 	0	0	0	0	0
 No matter how much intelligence you have, you can always change it quite a bit. 	0	0	0	0	0
 You can always substantially change how intelligent you are. 	0	0	0	0	0
 You are a certain kind of person, and there is not much that can be done to really change that. 	0	0	0	0	0
 You can always change basic things about the kind of person you are. 	0	0	0	0	0
6. Music talent can be learned by anyone.	0	0	0	0	0
 Only a few people will be truly good at sports – you have to be "born with it." 	0	0	0	0	0
 Math is much easier to learn if you are male or maybe come from a culture who values math. 	0	0	0	0	0
 The harder you work at something, the better you will be at it. 	0	0	0	0	0
10. No matter what kind of person you are, you can always change substantially.	0	0	0	0	0
11. Trying new things is stressful for me and I avoid it.	0	0	0	0	0
12. Some people are good and kind, and some are not – it's not often that people change.	0	0	0	0	0
13. I appreciate when parents, coaches, teachers	0	0	0	0	0

give me feedback about my					
performance.					
I often get angry when I	\cap	\bigcirc	\cap	\cap	\cap
get feedback about my	\cup	\cup	\cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
_performance.					
15. All human beings without a	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
brain injury or birth	U	0	U	0	0
defect are capable of the same					
amount of learning.					
16. You can learn new things,	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
but you can't really	0	0	0	0	0
change how intelligent you					
are.					
17. You can do things	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\cap	\cap
differently, but the	U	0	U	0	0
important					
parts of who you are can't					
really be changed.					
18. Human beings are	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
basically good, but	0	0	0	0	0
sometimes make terrible					
decisions.					
19. An important reason why I	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\cap	\bigcirc
do my school work	0	0	0	0	0
is that I like to learn new					
things.					
20. Truly smart people do not	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
need to try hard.	\cup	U	\cup	U	U

		Not at all important		Somewhat important		Very important
5.	How important is it to you to do <i>well</i> on the problem-solving task?	0	0	0	0	0
		Not at all important		Somewhat important		Very important
6.	How important is it to you to <i>avoid</i> doing poorly on the problem-solving task?	0	0	0	0	0
		Not at all		Somewhat		Very much
7.	How much do you <i>worry</i> over whether or not you will do well in the problem- solving task?	0	0	0	0	0
		Not at all important		Somewhat important		Very important
8.	How important is it to you that you learn a lot from the problem-solving task?	0	0	0	0	0
		Not at all		Somewhat		Very much
9.	How much did you enjoy the difficult parts of the problem-solving task?	0	0	0	0	0
		None		Some		A lot
10.	How much persistence did you put in the problem- solving task?	0	0	0	0	0

Part 4: My Goals in the Task For each, shade in the circle showing how true you think it is.

Part 5: My Beliefs about the Task

Please respond to each of the following items in terms of how true it is for you with respect to **YOUR** performance in this study.

		Not at all true		Somewhat true	V	/ery True
1.	I feel confident in my ability to improve at the task	0	0	0	0	0
2.	I am capable of learning the material in the task	0	0	0	0	0
3.	I am able to achieve my goals in this task	0	0	0	0	0
4.	I feel able to meet the challenges of performing well in this task	0	0	0	0	0

Please respond to each of the following items in terms of how true it is for you with respect to the **OTHER PARTICIPANTS'** performance in this study.

		Not at all true		Somewhat true		Very True
1.	They feel confident in their ability to improve at the task	0	0	0	0	0
2.	They are capable of learning the material in the task	0	0	0	0	0
3.	They are able to achieve their goals in this task	0	0	0	0	0
4.	They feel that they are able to meet the challenges of performing well in this task	0	0	0	0	0

Part 6: My Feelings About the Task To what extent do you agree with the following statements? For each, shade in the circle that corresponds with your response.

		Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
1.	During the problem- solving task I felt very tense.	0	0	0	0	0
2.	I wish activities like these did not bother me so much.	0	0	0	0	0
3.	I seemed to defeat myself while working on the problem-solving task.	0	0	0	0	0
4.	I felt very panicky when I was working on the problem-solving task.	0	0	0	0	0
5.	During the problem- solving activity I got so nervous that I forgot facts I really know.	0	0	0	0	0

Part 7: My Performance on the Task

Please respond to each of the following items in terms of how true it is for you with respect to the problem-solving task.

		Not at All True	A Little Bit Important	Kind of True	Pretty Important	Very True
1.	It's important to me to do well on these problems.	0	0	0	0	0
2.	How I do on these problems doesn't really matter to me.	0	0	0	0	0
3.	It's important to me to get the answers right answers on the problems.	0	0	0	0	0
4.	I don't care that much if I get the answers wrong.	0	0	0	0	0
5.	After choosing my answers on the problems, I checked again to be sure they were correct.	0	0	0	0	0
6.	When I was working on the problems, I paid close attention to what was changing in the patterns.	0	0	0	0	0
7.	When the patterns were confusing, I tried different ways at looking at them.	0	0	0	0	0
8.	I tried to eliminate answers that were clearly NOT correct.	0	0	0	0	0
9.	I made sure I understood what was changing in the patterns.	0	0	0	0	0
10.	I double-checked my work.	0	0	0	0	0
11.	I am pretty smart when it comes to the kind of problems I just worked on.	0	0	0	0	0
12.	I am as good as other people my age on these problems.	0	0	0	0	0
13.	I am worse than other people my age at solving these problems.	0	0	0	0	0
14.	I am not good at finding the right answers on problems like those I completed.	0	0	0	0	0
15.	If I work on another set of problems like these, I will probably get a lot wrong.	0	0	0	0	0
16.	I will probably do pretty well on another set of problems like these.	0	0	0	0	0
Part 8: My Learning Style For each statement below, please shade in the circle that shows how true it is of you.

	Not at All True	A Little Bit True	Kind of True	Pretty True	Very True
 I checked to see if I understood the things I was trying to learn during the activity. 	0	0	0	0	0
2. I looked through the activity to see how things were arranged before I started.	0	0	0	0	0
 I tried to decide what parts of the activity I didn't understand. 	0	0	0	0	0
 I tried to plan out the activity as best as I could. 	0	0	0	0	0
 When I was working on the activity, I checked to see if I understood it. 	0	0	0	0	0
 I planned ahead so that I could do well on the activity. 	0	0	0	0	0
7. I tried to understand how the things I was learning in the activity were related to other things I know.	0	0	0	0	0
 When doing the activity I picked out the most important parts first. 	0	0	0	0	0
 I tried to decide what parts of the activity I didn't know as well as others. 	0	0	0	0	0
10. I tried to match what I already know with the things I was learning in the activity.	0	0	0	0	0
11. I tried to see the similarities and differences in the things I was learning in the activity with things I already know.	0	0	0	0	0
12. When working on the activity, I tried to see how things fit together with things I already know.	0	0	0	0	0

Thank You!

Please let the researcher know when you are finished.

Appendix K

Sample Raven's Progressive Matrices Item

Please select the answer that best completes the pattern.



Appendix L



Note. Sample item from the PERC task (Porter, 2020).

Appendix M

Model Fit Indices Comparing Constrained Versus Unconstrained Paths

Model	χ^2	р	df	CFI	TLI	RMSEA	$\Delta \chi^2$
Constrained Path	<i>,</i> ,,	1	0				70
Perceptions of PC							
Unconstrained	0.00	.000	0	1.00	1.00	.00	-
Peer GM \rightarrow SRL	0.24	.627	1	1.00	1.00	.00	0.24
Perceptions of PC \rightarrow SRL	5.01	.025	1	0.97	0.00	.27	5.01*
Peer $GM \rightarrow$ Task Value	1.43	.232	1	1.00	0.71	.09	1.43
Perceptions of PC \rightarrow Task			1				
Value	1.82	.177		0.99	0.45	.12	1.82
Peer GM \rightarrow Self-Competence	0.01	.911	1	1.00	1.00	.00	0.01
Perceptions of PC \rightarrow Self-			1				
Competence	0.09	.760		1.00	1.00	.00	0.09
Peer GM \rightarrow Mastery Behaviors	1.16	.280	1	1.00	0.89	.05	1.16
Perceptions of PC \rightarrow Mastery			1				
Behaviors	0.45	.501		1.000	1.00	.00	0.45
Peer GM \rightarrow Perceptions of PC	0.36	.551	1	1.000	1.00	.00	0.36
Final Model	5.64	.688	8	1.000	1.00	.00	5.64
Identification							
Unconstrained	0.00	.000	0	1.00	1.00	.00	-
Peer GM \rightarrow SRL	0.02	.881	1	1.00	1.00	.00	0.02
Identification \rightarrow SRL	0.35	.554	1	1.00	1.00	.00	0.35

Peer GM → Task Value	0.40	.524	1	1.00	1.00	.00	0.40
Identification \rightarrow Task Value	0.75	.386	1	1.00	1.00	.00	0.75
Peer GM \rightarrow Self-Competence	0.10	.746	1	1.00	1.00	.00	0.10
Identification \rightarrow Self-							
Competence	0.66	.422	1	1.00	1.00	.00	0.66
Peer GM \rightarrow Mastery Behaviors	0.98	.322	1	1.00	1.00	.00	0.98
Identification \rightarrow Mastery							
Behaviors	0.17	.681	1	1.00	1.00	.00	0.17
Peer GM \rightarrow Identification	0.10	.756	1	1.00	1.00	.00	0.10
Final Model	5.48	.791	9	1.00	1.00	.00	5.48
Combined Model							
Unconstrained	6.42	.040	2	0.98	0.00	.20	-
Peer GM \rightarrow SRL	6.44	.092	3	0.98	0.30	.14	0.02
Perceptions of PC \rightarrow SRL	13.34	.052	3	0.98	0.04	.17	6.92*
Identification \rightarrow SRL	7.69	.004	3	0.94	0.00	.25	1.27
Peer GM \rightarrow Task Value	7.04	.070	3	0.98	0.18	.15	0.62
Perceptions of PC \rightarrow Task Value	9.22	.050	3	0.97	0.03	.17	2.80
Identification \rightarrow Task Value	7.78	.026	3	0.97	0.00	.19	1.36
Peer GM \rightarrow Self-Competence	6.45	.091	3	0.98	0.30	.14	0.03
Perceptions of PC \rightarrow Self-			3				
Competence	6.54	.058		0.98	0.09	.16	0.12
Identification \rightarrow Self-			3				
Competence	7.45	.088		0.98	0.28	.15	1.03
Peer GM \rightarrow Mastery Behaviors	7.32	.062	3	0.98	0.12	.16	0.90
Perceptions of PC \rightarrow Mastery			3				
Behaviors	6.65	.088		0.98	0.28	.14	0.23
Identification \rightarrow Mastery			3				
Behaviors	6.53	.083		0.98	0.26	.15	0.11

Peer GM \rightarrow Perceptions of PC	6.78	.088	3	0.98	0.28	.14	0.36
Peer GM \rightarrow Identification	6.52	.079	3	0.98	0.23	.15	0.10
Final Model	16.47	.351	15	0.99	0.94	.04	10.05

Note. GM refers to growth mindset, PC refers to peers' competence, SRL refers to self-regulated learning. *Chi-square difference significant at p < .05. Each path indicates a comparison with the fully unconstrained model.